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Our cover illustration shows part of the 13th century undercroft at
the rear of Waterford's City Hall. Popularly known as the "Crypt"
from its proximity to Christ Church Cathedral, it was probably the
store or warehouse of a mediaeval merchant. It was the subject of

an article in DECIES some years ago and was visited by Society member
earlier this year.
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Plans recently revealed for the development of the Railway
Square area will by now have been examined with satisfaction by
all who have deplored the state into which the square was
allowed to fall, since the demise of the Waterford/Tramore
railway link and the demolition of the buildings along its Manor
Street perimeter.

The plans include the removal of a number of unsightly sheds
from the vicinity of the Watch Tower, so that the venerable
building will now stand revealed to the public view from all sides.
The restoration of the tower, as outlined, will make of it an
attractive feature when seen from the south-western approach to
the city, and will continue the line of the city wall across the
road from Castle Street at that point.

One of the oldest inhabited parts of the city is Cathedral
Square and one cannot help thinking how nice it would be to see
this area similarly conserved and its not inconsiderable charm
enhanced. It is rather sad to see one of the oldest buildings in
the square, the house of John Roberts, the master builder, being
allowed to fall into a state of virtual ruin. It is perhaps too
late now to rectify the matter, so we can only regret the passing
of another little bit of Waterford's history.
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An illustration from The Life and Death of Jobn Atherton, published
shortly after Bishop Atherton’s execution for buggery in 1640. The figure
on the right is John Childe, who was supposed to have been his lover, and
who was also executed shortly afterwards.



The Strange Case Ogf

Bishop John Atherton.

Canon Robert Winnett.

A number of bishops in the course of the Church's history have suffered
death, some as martyrs for the Faith and others as heretics, but the case of
John Atherton must surely be unique in that he was executed for the alleged
commission of an unnatural offence. Atherton was born in Bawdrip in
Somerset in 1598, the son of Prebendary John Atherton, the rector of the
parish. At the age of sixteen the younger John entered Gloucester Hall in
Oxfor?, transferring later to Lincoln College and becoming Master of Arts in
1619.' 1In 1622 he became rector of Huish Champflower on the edge of Exmoor
and abgut this time married Joanne, daughter of Mrs. Susannah Leakey, a
woman who although a regular worshipper in church and popular with her
neighbours, was credited with psychic powers and was said to have threatened
to return a ghost after her death, when her presence might be less welcome.
Atherton, having attracted the notice of Wentworth, the Lord Deputy of
Ireland, received a series of preferments in Ireland, the prebend of St. John's,
Dublin, the chancellorship of Killaloe, the chancellorship of Christ Church,
Dublin, and the rectories of Killaban and Ballintubride. In 1635 he received
the degree of Doctor of Divinity from Trinity College, Dublin. The crowning
point of his career was his appointment to the bishopric of Waterford and
Lismore in 1636. As bishop he was said to have "behaved himself for some time
with great prudence, though forward enough, if not too much, against the
Roman Catholics."3

The recovery of the Church of Ireland's patrimony from usurping lay hands
was a major concern of Wentworth,% and Atherton was among the most energetic
of his agents. From the time of his arrival in Ireland he showed himself
active in regaining for the Church revenues which had been appropriated by
lay landlords, thereby earning the approbation of Wentworth, who approached
Archbishop Laud with a view to securing a dispensation enabling Atherton
to hold his English living together with his preferments in Ireland, as
otherwise " he would gain little of the exchange and account himself i1l
rewarded for his pains."5 The king, however, had declared himself opposed to
bishops commendams, and Laud also judged it to be of "evil and scandalous
example to hold different preferments, especial such as are with cure in
diverse kingdoms."6 Atherton, having further "secured two good rectories from
the patron who secundum usum Sarum had made them lay-free these forty years",’
was willing to resign his English preferment, but before his resignation became
effective a new turn in events took place.




The Strange Case of Bishop John Atherton.

At the end of 1635 the bishopric of Waterford and Lismore fell vacant
by the death of Michael Boyle , and Atherton's name came up for consideration.
The bishopric was a poor one and required an incumbent who would restore its
rights and revenues. For the "soliciting part and recovering the rights of
the bishopric" Wentworth reaarded Atherton as well qualified, though less fit
for the duties of a bishop.® Laud, who when Bishop of Bath and Wells
would have known Atherton, likewise felt misgivings about his suitability for
episcopal office, for he wrote, " Better Dr. Atherton than a worse, though
for my part I 1ike nothing at all in him but the soliciting part."§ This
and Hentw?rth's subsequent statement, "There is exception against the man, I
confess", !0 point to some defect in Atherton's personal character, a defect
which manifested itself in sexual irregularity. In 1623 Atherton's wife's
elder sister, Susan, had produced an illegitimate baby of which Atherton was
believed by some of his parishioners to be the father, but no charge was
brought against him, presumably for lack of evidence.'h Later Atherton was
reputed to have begotten an infant by a niece of his wife living in
Barnstaple: of the alleged fate of this infant an account will be given
later. In spite of his misgivings Wentworth continued to urge Atherton's
appointment on the ground that the deplorable state of the bishopric required
"one well versed in the part of a solicitor.” If Atherton were appointed
“Cork would think the Devil is let loose upon him forth off his chain..l

will undertake that there is_no such terrier in all England for the
unkennelling of an old fox."12 In the end Laud laid Atherton's name before
the king, though not without frankly disclosing his hesitations to Wentworth:
"I confess clearly to you, since I had speech with him (Atherton) in England,
I have no ?ginion either of his worth or honesty. 1 pray God I may be
deceived." On his appointment as bishop Atherton was allowed to hold in
commendam the chancellorship of Christ Church until the revenues of the
bishopric were recovered, but was required to resign his living in Somerset.

In view of the doubts which Wentworth felt concerning Atherton's fitness
for the office of a bishop, doubts which he allowed to be overruled by
mundane considerations there is something disingenuous in Wentworth's answer
to Pym at his trial that he was ignorant of anything to Atherton's discredit:
"I thought the bishop a person fit for that charge, but suppose he had a
secret fault of his own (God knows it was unknown to me), may not a man be
deceived in his judgement of a man but this shall be turned against him ?"14

Atherton had no sooner become bishop than he set about to recover the
episcopal revenues, his activities being mainly directed against Richard Bgyle,
the Earl of Cork. By February,1637 he had recovered the site of theishop's
palace and £40 a year rent for land in Waterford,15 and in the same year he
commenced suits against Cork for lands at Kilbree and New Affane, Bewley and
Kilmolash, and Ardmore and Lismore, basing his case on Sir George Radcliffe's
opinion that the leases were invalid unless ratified by the deans and chapters
of the two cathedrals of Waterford and Lismore. Wentworth, doubtful whether
Radcliffe's view could be upheld, urged a compromise, and Bramhall, bishop of
Derry, and Sir William Parsons were a?gointed as arbitrators. Their award
proved highly profitable to Atherton,!'® who received Ardmore, Kilbree and New
Affane, thereby adding over £500 to the income of the see, and was granted
£500 for the building of an episcopal house. Cork was allowed to retain the
castle and manor of Lismore and the towns and lands of Bewley and Kilmolash.17
The arrangement was to be ratified by a special Act of the English Parliament.
Cork was secure in his possession of the capitular lands of Lismore so long as
his cousin Naylor an opponent of Atherton, was dean, but Atherton prevailed
on Bramhall to secure Naylor's removal to Limerick so that his successor in
the deanery could commence a suit for the lands. To secure patronage for
himself it was Atherton's practice to persuade clergymen nominated by private

patron not to apply for institution so that the right of presentations reverted
to the bishop by lapse.18
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Within a few months of his becoming bishop Atherton's name was 1{nked
with certain strange happenings in his native Somerset. Susannah Leakey died
at Minehead i1n November 1634, and before long there were reports that, as she
had threatened, she had returned to haunt the town, and even to use her
witch's powers to sink th? ships of her shipowner son Alexander as they
entered Minehead harbour.'? Soon a strange story was being put about by her
daughter-in-law, Elizabeth, Alexander's wife, to the effect that her mother-in-
law had appeared and spoken to her, with a message that she was to go to
Ireland and inform the bishop of Waterford that if he did not repent of a
certain sin he would be hanged. She made the journey to Waterford - her husband
did a regular trade with Waterford - and briefly saw the bishop, who received
her coldly and responded to her message only by saying that if he were to hang,
he would assuredly not be drowned. Returning to Minehead she was questioned
by the local magistrates, who did not know what to make of her story but
forwarded a report to the Privy Council. No account exists of the contents
of the report, but as there was no corroboration of Elizabeth Leakey's story
the matter was allowed to drop.20 However rumours persisted, and the bishop of
Bath and Wells, William Piers, appointed a commission, consisting of himself,
Sir Robert Montacute and a local magistrate named Godwin to investigate the
affair. Several witnesses were examined, including Elizabeth Leakey, but
their testimonies were confused and contradictory, and were regarded by the
commission as the product of superstition, feeble-mindedness and idle gossip.
As to the message she was to deliver to the bishop Elizabeth said she would
explain its purport only to the king himself. The commission described her
as "an understanding woman but bold and subtle enough", and so little credence
did they attach to her story that they reached the conclusion " that there
never was any such apparition but that it is an imposture devised and framed
for some particular ends, but what they are we know not."21
Laud was aware of the sinister rumours concerning Atherton and was
perplexed by them. Writing to Wentworth he observed, "You may pelieve what
you list of this, but some people of very good quality do affirm this, and a
good deal more. But what will appear truth in the end God knows." Later he
wrote that in his opinion young Mrs. Leakey was " a cunning young woman"
whose object was money - in a word, a blackmailer.23 Wentworth was disposed
to treat the matter lightly, even light-heartedly. "I will engquire after
Mrs. Leakey and her errand”, he wrote to Laud, "and will learn what the Devil
hath to say to the bishop of Waterford. Sure I am the Earl of Cork wisheth
them together already"24, and later he wrote, "I hear nothing more of
Mrs. Leakey or her familiar, but if money be that they aim at, it must be a
strong and crafty devil that gets anything out of the bishop's purse."25

Whatever rumours were in circulation about Atherton they did not prevent
Wentworth from considering him for another bishopric, as “one well versed in
the part of a solicitor." Early in 1638, when Richard Boyle was about to be
translated from Cork to Tuam, Wentworth recommended Atherton for the impending
vacancy as "a marvellous instrument to settle the bishopric of Cork, Cloyne and
Ross by recovering at least £800 a year to those churches, which cannot be
begun by this bishop that hath already closed his hands so as for this time he
cannot stir."26 Wentworth's recommendation, although embodied in a King's
letter, was not acted upon, and not Atherton but Chappell, the provost of
Trinity , was appointed to Cork.27 Atherton remained at Waterford, but the end
of his career was soon to come.

In 1640 a charge of serious immorality was brought against Atherton,
namely, of sodomy with his steward John Child. The accusation was made in a
petition to the Irish House of Commons, which on 17th June appointed certain
of its members to lay the petition before the lord deputy, now Lord Wandesford .28
According to a contemporary letter the bishop repudiated the charge in question,
but did not deny the conmission of certain acts of adultery and fornication.
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Being placed on bail he attended with the other lords spiritual on the lord
deputy in Christ Church, Dublin, but the lord deguty dismissed him and later
had him arrested and comitted to Dublin Castle.29 Unfortunately no record

is extant of Atherton's trial, which ended in his being convicted and sentenced
to death. On S5th December he was hanged, not having claimed his right as a
lord spiritual to suffer death by beheading. He was not formally degraded
from episcopal orders due to the sudden death of the lord deputy on the eve of
the execution, so he died a bishop, but on the morning of his execution he

was deprived by Trinity College of his D.D. Degree. Atherton by his own wish
was buried in the churchyarg of St.John's, Dublin, in an obscure corner used
for the deposit of rubbish.3!

Doubt has always surrounded the question of Atherton's guilt on the
charge for which he was condemned, and the debate continued into the following
century. By many the unfortunate bishop has been regarded as the victim of a
conspiracy on the part of those whose financial interests he threatened.
Atherton's accuser, Child, was himself to suffer on a capital charge.

After hi- -ondemnation Atherton was visited in prison by Nicholas Bernard,
dean of Arda:. and at one time chaplain to archbishop Ussher. In his
The Penitent Death of a Woefull Sinner, which ran into several editions,
Bernard Teft a detailed account of Atherton's last days and his execution. His
attitude during his trial, Bernard says, was "by all condemned", but in prison
it changed to one of humble penitence. Bernard proferred himself as a
spiritual ad. - r to Atherton and attended him daily to prepare him for death.
By "representing unto him the most compassionate merciful nature of God,
willing yet to be friends with him, so apt to forgive and forget all injuries",
Bernard brought the prisoner to an assurance of pardon and peace of mind .33
-Atherton acknowledged the justice of God in bringing about his condemnation.
He confessed his "reading of naughty books, viewing of immodest pictures,
frequenting of plays and drunkenness."33 He confessed also his "toe much zeal
and forwardness both in introducing and pressing some church innovations and
in dividing himself from the House of Convocation anno 1634, in opposition to
the Articles ‘of Ireland then voted to be receijved, of purpose to please some
men's perso:. 4 He said that the one who had corrupted him in his youth
had recently unexpectedly visited him, and the sight of him was as thgggh a
ghost had come to warn him of a "present vengeance drawing nigh him."
Bernard cites as evidence of Atherton's repentance "his giving satisfaction
to any that he had wronged even in small matters; his sending for some that
were mean persons and asking their forgiveness; those whom he had prosecuted
too bitterly ‘= the High Commission Court, endeavouring to the uttermost to
take off their fines; his care for satisfying his smallest debts."36

In his last speech at the gallows, according to Bernard, Atherton
acknowledged the moral, though not the legal, justice of his condemnation. He
believed that the jury were honest gentlemen and gave their verdict
conscientiously, and of the judges he said that "though some of them were hot
against him, he imputed it only to their zeal against vice." He confessed
"his neglect of public preaching and catechising in the church and private
prayers in his family, for which sins of dmission he was given over to sins
of commission, for the neglect of the commandments of the first table let fall
into breach of the second." Nevertheless, declared Bernard, Atherton continued
to deny "the main thing in the indictment which the law laid hold of, and
which hath been since confirmed by his chief accuser at his execution also."37
For Bernard, then, Atherton was the victim of a miscarriage of justice. He
might accept his fate as merited by his general sinfulness, but of the
particular charge on which he was condemned he maintained, and Bernard
believed, his innocence. Bernard referred to the subsequent execution of
Atherton's chief accuser , but did not say on what charge he was executed,
whether sodomy or (as was later alleged) perjury.
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In the circumstances of the time,a criminal case involving a bishop
was certain to be exploited by those who wished to discredit episcopacy.
Within a few months of Atherton's execution, and shortly before the publication
of Bernard's Penitent Death, there had appeared what Bernard called a
"scandalous rhyming pamphlet,38 in the form of a poem printed in London and
entitled The Life and Death of John Atherton, Lord Bishop of Waterford and
Lysmore within the Kingdom of Ireland, borne neare Bridgwater in Somersetshire,
who for Incest, Buggery and many other Enormous Crimes, after having Tived a
Vicious Life died a Shameful Death.  This crude poem, the work of a fanatic,
1s a sustained attack on Atherton”s moral character. Even when he was a young
man

“"So far baseness did in him prevaile

The unto lust he set himself to saile,

Deflowered virgins, marriage-beds defilde

With many other vitious crimes too vilde

To be conceived .......

Lastly through pride, high fare and lustfull life
Incest committed with the sister of his wife

For which he sued his pardon and then fled

To Ireland where a worser life he led."

The bishop, so the poem relates, was wont to take aphrodisiacs to provoke his
desire, and no woman was safe from his advances. Finally there took place the
offence which was the immediate cause of his downfall, an act of sodomy with
his proctor, 9 John Child:

"Suppose a Devill from th'infernal pit,

More monster-like than ere was Devill yet,
Contrary to course, taking a male fiend

To sodomize with him; such was the mind

0f this Lord Bishop; he did take a childe
By name, not years, acting a sinne so vilde
As is forenam'd; this Childe a Proctor too."

On the title-page of the poem Child is stated to have been executed in March
1641, “at Bandon Bridges, condemned thereto at the Assizes holden at Corke."40
The story of the apparition to young Mrs. Leakey and her message of warning to
Atherton in Ireland figures in the poem.

Interest in the case of Atherton continued, as shown by the eppearance of
several editions of Bernard's Penitent Death during the seventy years following
his execution. Among those who believed him to have been the victim of a
miscarriage of justice was Dr. John King, Rector of Chelsea, the author (though
his name does not appear) of The Case of John Atherton, Fairly Represented
against a late Partial Edition of Dr. Bernard's Relation. This pamphlet, which
appeared in 1710, was a reply to an edition of the Penitent Death in which the
editor had inserted on the title-page a statement that Atherton " was convicted
of the sin of uncleanness with a cow and other creatures."4] King believed
that Atherton's execution had been brought about by certain of those whose
resentment he had incurred by his efforts to recover properties belonging to
the bishopric. The see of Waterford being a poor one, the need for a competent
livelihood had compelled him to seek their recovery, but King had to admit that
Atherton was not always wise in the manner in which he prosecuted his claims.

He was of a "proud, passionate and 1itigious temper", and on his own confession,
as recorded by Bernard, he gave to his lawsuits time and attention which had
better been devoted to the spiritual duties of his office,and was at times
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guilty of "taking advantages and overreaching men", for which he sought to
make satisfaction before his death,32 That Atherton should in these
circumstances have become the victim of injustice was not surprising, for as
King observed, "when a man falls under the general hatred, prejudice and
obloquy of men, 1t 1s no difficult matter upon slender proofs to induce them
to believe him guilty and convict him of any crimes objected against him."43
But of Atherton's innocence in respect of the offence with which he was charged
King had no doubt, for the chief witness against him confessed to having
given false testimony, and it was incredible that a man long married and

"of his years, education and function should be guil&x of so unnatural and
brutal a piece of lust as that he was charged with." The fact that
Atherton made a full confession of his past sins and gave evidence of his
genuine repentance, and yet to the end denied the particular offence alleged
against him, clearly pointed to his innocence.

In an appendix King quoted two letters in support of Atherton's
innocence. Neither the writers' nor the recipients' names are given, but it
happens that the originals of the letters are inserted in a copy of the 1641
edition of the Penitent Death in the British Library.

The first letter, dated 20th March, 1709/10, was written by Thomas Mills,
who was bishop of Waterford 1708-1740. 1In reply ‘to King's request for
information concerning Atherton,Mills wrote to say that he had found "all the
creditable, sensible people of the city and diocese of Waterford possessed
with an opinion of his innocence as to the crime for which he came to so
ignominious an end", and that it was commonly believed that " he was brought to
his death by the contrivance and conspiracy of a certain number of men who
were set on work to prevent further trouble from the said bishop about lands
in diigute between them, and therefore they resolved to have him out of the
way."

The second letter, dated 27th March , 1710, and bearing the sxanature,
A. Alcock, was addressed to Bishop Mills, who forwarded it to King
According to the writer all the papers re]at1ng to Atherton's tr1a1 had been
destroyed, "there having been a general sweep made of almost all records
whatsoever in the war that immediately succeeded the bishop's execution."
Among the people of Waterford, both Roman Catholics and Protestants, it was,
said the writer, widely believed that he was innocent of the offence charged
against him and the victim of resentment due to his efforts to recover the lands
of his see. The story of bestiality with a cow was "most notoriously false",
as the offence charged against him was that of "too much freedom with his own
steward, one Child by name."47 The chief witness against Atherton, who later
before his own execution confessed to perjury, was a menial servant of the
bishop, " a most profligate wicked fellow", who fled to England with a purse
of money believed to be the reward for his perjury. (The "chief witness" here
appears to be distinguished from Child, and a steward could hardly be reckoned
a "menial servant." There may be some confusion on the part of the writer).
Another who gave testimony against Atherton, according to Alcock, was Howell
Powell, "upon whom the bishop had formerly been somewhat severe in his court."
Powell was a man of some substance, but after the bishop's death nothing
prospered with him, and his wife attributed their misfortunes to God's
Jjudgement on her husband for the false testimony which he had given against the
bishop. Similar misfortunes, the letter continues, befell others concerned in
the bishop's prosecution. White, the Roman Catholic sheriff responsible for
the bishop's arrest, fell from opu1ence into poverty and was compelled to live
on charity. Atherton s chief prosecutor, the city recorder, Pierce Butler,
was one of those from whom the bishop had recovered lands. He was believed to
have suborned the b1sh0p s servant - evidently the "profligate wicked fellow"
mentioned above - to give evidence against him. Once more an element of the
psychic enters into the narrative, for Alcock tells how Butler was reported to
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have gone mad after the bishop's execution and to have seen the bishop's ghost
before him. Various calamities overtook the members of Butler's family,

and the house which he had occupied remained for long untenanted owing to the
presence of the ghost, a story for whose truth Alcock gges not vouch but cites
as evidence of popular belief in Atherton's innocence.

A reply to King appeared in the following year, 1711, in the shape of a
pamphlet, Bishop Atherton's Case discussed in a Letter to the Author of a late
pamphlet entitled, The Case of John Atherton, Bishop of Waterford in Ireland,
fa1r1y representedi" the editor of which Hisavowed any intention of aspersing

"the sacred order of episcopacy, for which I have the h1ghest veneration" and
declared his purpose to be that of exposing "the hideous sin of unnatural
lewdness."50 The interest of the pamphlet lies in two narratives which it
contains, one by a certain John Price, who claimed to have been present at
Atherton's execution, and the other by John Quick, described as a "Minister of
the Gospel”. The latter purported to give "a true and amazing relation of the
notorious uncleanness, incest, sodomy and murder committed by Dr. John
Atherton, Lord Bishop of Waterford in the Kingdom of Ireland apparent,
undoubted and prodigiog? apparition that was ever heard of, enough to convince
the greatest atheist."

According to Price, Atherton was charged by his own servant with sodomy
and by a woman with rape, and before his execution confessed his guilt. Price
gives the following version of Atherton's last words at the gallows : " I am
come to pay my last debt here, the first of my coat that I know in this kind.
I pray God I may be the last. I believe it is known to you all what is laid
to my charge, and for which I received sentence of death. I do here before the
Lord, his holy angels and you all, own the sentence against me to be just,
and that I was guilty of the charge brought against me."52 This, for what it
is worth, represents a direct contradiction of Bernard's assertion that
Atherton to the last denied that he was guilty of the particular offence of
which he was convicted.

John Quick's narrative is stated to have been printed from an account
in his own handwriting and signed by him in 1690. This John Quick, the date
of whose death is given as 1706, is to be identified with John Quick , of
Exeter College, Oxford, successively incumbent of Kingsbridge and Brixton
Devon, minister of the English congregation at Middleburg in Holland, and
pastor of a nonconformist congregation in Smithfield, London. In 1663 he was
sentenced tg a term of imprisonment for continuing to officiate after refusal
to conform.

Quick tells the story of Susannah Leakey's appearance in ghostly form to
her daughter-in-law, Elizabeth and of her charge to the latter to warn her
uncle that unless he repented of a certain sin, he would be hanged. The sin
in question was the murder of the infant which Atherton had begotten by his
wife's niece in Barnstaple. Atherton, according to the ghostly Mrs. Leakey,
"got my brother's daughter with child, and I delivered her of a girl, which
as soon as he had baptised I pinched the throat of it and strangled it, and
he smoked it over a pan of charcoal that it might not stink, and buried it in
a chamber of the house." The curt response of the bishop has already been
mentioned, as also the rejection of young Mrs. Leakey's story both by the
Privy Council and by the commission set up by the bishop of Bath and Wells.

Quick's narrative now becomes still more remarkable, and again a psychic
element enters in. In 1639 a young apprentice in Barnstaple named Chamberlain
claimed, according to Quick, to have seen on several occasions the
apparitions of a young woman carrying a new-born thild, and of an old man
sitting on his bed. One night he was told by the latter to go to a certain
room in the house where he would find two silver pots under the floor-boards.
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One pot was full of gold and this he was to keep, The other pot he was on
no account to open but was to take it §ntact to his master's daughter in
Wales, a Mrs. Betty, nfece to Bishop Atherton. (The name Betty raises a
question. This Mrs. Betty could be, as Theo Brown hints,the remarried widow
of William Leakey, Alexander's brother, but Betty is also a short form of
Elizabeth. If there is confusion it is typical of the stories surrounding
Atherton). The young man duly took the silver pot to Mrs. Betty, who a year
later fell i11 and died, leaving all her property to her maid on condition
that she took the silver pot to the bishop of Waterford, with the message
that "if he did not repent of the sin he knew himself to be guilty of he
would be hanged." When news of this bequest, and the condition attached to
it, became known, the silver pot was impounded by the magistrate, and on being
opened it was found to contain the skeleton of an infant. A report was sent
to the Privg Council, which despatched an order to Dublin for the arrest of
the bishop.® No record of this, however, is to be found in the Acts of the
Privy Council. Quick's narrative bears all the marks of improbability,
credulity, and anti-episcopal prejudice.

Other evidence may be cited of the division of opinion concerning
Atherton's guilt. Among those who believed him to be guilty was Alexander
Clogie, son-in-law and chaplain to bishop William Bedell of Kilmore, and in
this he may have been influenced by the fact that Atherton had been a member
of the court which convicted Archibald Adair, bishop of Killala, of sedition
and was “"fiercest against him". Adair and Clogie were fellow Scots, and
Bedell had striven to prevent Adair's deprivation. Clogie wrote of Atherton
in his MS Life of Bedell (1675), "This prelate was by just judgement of God
accused, arraigned and condemned for iniquities far above all that is left
on record concerning Sodom."9% It was Adair who succeeded Atherton in the
bishopric of Waterford. .

Walter Harris in his edition of Sir James Ware's Whole Works (1764)
accepted the fact of Atherton's guilt, maintaining that the Tanguage of
Atherton's confession could be construed only as referring to a specific
crime and not simply to the “"commission of common frailties." Harris further
observed that "Sir James Ware at the time of Bishop Atherton's execution was
a member of the Privy Council and had opportunities enough of knowing the
ﬁruthsgnd zeal enough to declare it, if there had been room to have acquitted

im."

A champion of Atherton's innocence was Thomas Carte in his Life of Ormonde
(1736). Here Atherton's downfall is outrightly attributed to the EarTl of Cork.
The Earl, reputed the richest man in Ireland, had, according to Carte, “gotten
into his hand too much of the patrimony of the Church, which in those times
lay exposed a common and easy prey to the depradations of great men." Having
recovered for the bishopric the manor of Ardmore, Atherton continued to sue for
the remainder of the lands, and "being well qualified by his talents and spirit
to go through with the suit, fell (as there is too much reason to think) a
sacrifice to that litigation rather than to justice, when he suffered for a
pretended crime of a secret nature." This miscarriage of justice, in Carte's
view was facilitated by the policy of the times, by which "everything was
encouraggg that would throw a scandal on that order of men and render episcopacy
odious."

Mystery surrounds the question of the justice of Atherton's conviction,
and there is no record of the trial extant to help us in elucidating it:
nevertheless an attempt will be made to reach an opinion on such evidence as
is available.

The element of the ghostly or psychic figures prominent in the Atherton
story, but it would be out of place here to discuss the question of the
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objectivity or authentictty of such phenomena as apparitions. In this case

a sceptica{ approach would appear to be Justified, and Theg Brown says of the
Leakey family, the ghostly Mrs, Leakey and the alleged happenings in Minehead
and Barnstaple, "the documentary evidence is both scattered and scanty,

though there is an abundance of rumour and gossip which seems only to increase
the difficulty of arriving at a coherent narrative.” Her conclusion is that
there was no ghost of the old Mrs. Leakey at all, and that it was a story
concocted by her daughter-in-law for the purpose of blackmailing the bishop,
which in fact was what Laud suspected when the story first reached him.
Credulity, love of the sensational, and anti-episcopal prejudice elaborated
the story until it attained its full development in the narrative of John Quick.

It is hardly credible that Atherton was quite such an unashamed sexual
profligate as he was represented to be by the author of The Life and Death of
John Atherton, but on his own admission he was a man of Toose sexual morals,
and may well have coomitted adultery with his sister-in-law and with other
women. laud and Wentworth, as we have seen, had reservations about Atherton's
fitness to be a bishop, though for Wentworth this doubt was overridden by
Atherton's ability for the"soliciting part." On the question of Atherton's
guilt of the particular offence of which he was convicted we have to decide
whether or not to accept Bernard's word that to the end he denied "the main
thing in the indictment which the law laid hold of" and the veracity of
Atherton in making that denial. His frank confession of his past sinful life
and his manifest penitence argue in favour of accepting Atherton's word on
this point. Moreover Bernard tells us that at his trial Atherton was so
confident that his innocence would be established that he did not challenge the
foreman of the jury, whom he knew to be outlawed. 58 Against Bernard's testimony
must be set that of Price to the effect that before his execution Atherton did
confess his guilt of the charge, but it is difficult to know what value to
attach to this, and a general confession might have been construed as a specific
confession of guilt. The statement of Bernard and others that Atherton's chief
accuser was himself the subject of a capital charge and before his execution
confessed to having given false evidence against the bishop, does not appear
to have been denied or even questioned. Granting Atherton's innocence of the
specific charge on which he was convicted, it could be argued that he must have
been known to have engaged in homosexual as well as heterosexual practices for
the accusation to have been colourably brought against him, and this finds some
support in Atherton's own reference to the "corrupter of his youth". His
confession of "reading naughty books" and "viewing immodest pictures" shows him
to have courted sexual temptations , leading him to the commission of immoral
acts, perhaps of more than one kind. Acknowledging that his vices were the
cause of his downfall Atherton seems at the end to have regarded his impending
execution as the fulfillment of a death-wish and as a way_of making expiation
for a life which he could only look back upon with shame. 59

Roman Catholic-Protestant animosities do not seem to have played any
significant part in the Atherton affair, and Atherton testified that "none of
the Romish Church, though differing from me in points of religion, had a hand
in this complaint against me."60 and according to Alcock there were Roman
Catholics among those most convinced of Atherton's innocence.

The efforts of the bishops to recover church lands, in which they had the
strong support of Wentworth and Laud, unquestionably led to resentment on the
part of lay landowners. One of the charges brought against Wentworth at his
trial was his treatment of the earl of Cork over a suit for the return of
certain lands from which he had been evicted by Wentworth's orders.6] Others
besides Cork were involved in disputes with Atherton over lands, among them,
as mentioned in Alcock's letter, Pierce Butler, recorder of Cork. Two orders
of the Irish Parliament, dated 7th August 1641, copies of which are preserved
among the MSS in Marsh's Library, Dublin,62 reversed a decree of the Chancery
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Court granting Atherton possession of the townlands of Donnaghmore in
County Tipperary against Butler, and authorised Butler to recoyer the
rates on these {ands from Atherton's widow,

The Earl of Cork, Richard Boyle, was the one most affected by the
activity of Atherton, and Carte named him explicitly as the author of
Atherton's downfall, but certain questions need to be answered. Cork may
have been avaricious and unscrupulous, but would his lack of scruple have led
him to the length of virtual murder ? Does Cork's absence in England at the
time proceedings were commencedagainst Atherton constitute a sufficient alibi?
Could a hand have been taken in the affair by Walley, Cork's agent. who had no
love for Atherton and called him "that most proud and insulting bishop"?64
Walley clearly regarded Atherggn as the main opponent of his master's interests
and rejoiced at his downfall. "The Almighty casts down the proud and lofty
from their seats", he wrote to his master, citing as examples Wentworth,
Wandesford and "the bishop of Waterford who ended his 1ife with a halter."66
Cork's character was a complex one and by no means wholly admirable, but
Nicholas Canny in his recent work, The Upstart Earl, has shown that the
commonly held judgement of him owes too much to what was ggid of him by his
opponents, and among them Wentworth, to be entirely just. Although he makes
reference to the case of Atherton, Canny does not connect his downfall to any
machination on the part of Cork. Professor G.V. Jourdan spread the
responsibility more widely when he represented the Atherton affair as " a .
concocted business on the part of church-land-grabbers, Protestant and Romanist",
giving the impression that more were involved 1in the affair than perhaps
actually were.

63

That a concocted charge against Atherton was not beyond the bounds of
possibility is shown by the conspiracy of which Archbishop Sandys of York was
the victim in 1582. Sir Robert Stapleton bribed an innkeeper in Doncaster to
introduce a woman into the archbishop's bedchamber while he was staying there
on a visitation, so that Stapleton could blackmail the archbishop into granting
him a favourable lease of certain archiepiscopal manors.59 If Atherton was
the victim of what nowadays would be called a "frame up" on the part &f those
whose interests he had threatened in his efforts to recover the Church's
patrimony, it was because there were factors in his character and mode of life
which rendered him thus vulnerable. This is the most probable explanation of
his fate, though it does not entirely dispel the element of mystery which
surrounds the strange case of Bishop John Atherton.
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Linear Earthworks In

County Waterforod.

Thomas Condit and Michael Gibbons.

In recent years there has been renewed interest in linear earthworks
(sometimes referred to as travelling earthworks) in Ireland. Publications
by Lynn (1981) and Walsh (1987) along with Emania, the journal of the Navan
Research Group, have contributed a great deal to the promotion of a new
phase of research into these impressive sites. The aim of this article is
to draw attention to a number of definite and probable linear earthworks
which came to light in the compilation of the Sites and Monuments Record for
County Waterford (Gibbons et al. forthcoming).

Linear earthworks, serving as boundaries or frontier fortifications,
can be distinguished from normal field boundaries by their extended course,
the large size of bank and ditch or by the multiplication of lines of bank
and ditch. The existence of some linear earthworks can be detected from
folklore and placename evidence. Others may be indicated on old estate maps
or are given brief reference in antiquarian literature. Air photography can
also help to locate linear earthworks, especially when they occur as
cropmarks. Many linear earthworks throughout the country have escaped the
notice of archaeologists because only fragments survive and even these may
look no more impressive than normal field boundaries.

.

The following is an inventory of sites in County Waterford which we
consider likely to fall into the category of linear earthworks. It is based
upon detailed analysis of literature concerning antiquities in County
Waterford and in particular the estate maps drawn by Bernard Scale (National
Library of Ireland MSS 7216, 7218) and Josias Bateman (N.L.I. MSS 6148-9).
O'Flanagan (1981) stresses the importance of these maps for early settlement
studies and in passing draws attention to Scale's depiction of “"Ancient
Fortifications® at Lisfinny and Garrybrittas.

FIG.1 Map showing location of linear earthworks and other sites thought
. to be Lateg Prehistoric in date. ous



20 Linear Earthworks in County Waterford.

INVENTORY

The heading for each entry contains the principal townlands where a
linear earthwork occurs. This is followed by its Sites and Monuments Record
number. The inventory number refers to numbers on the map (Fig. 1).

1. COOLNAL INGADY 7:68

Canon Power (1952, 406-7) notes two remarkable and nearly parallel trenches
which run up the steep mountainside. He states that from a distance they
have the appearance of boundary fences, one considerably longer than the
other. They are named as "Claidhe na bfiann" and Soc agus Coltair", "Earthen
fence of the Fianns" and "Sock and its colter." Although the exact location
of this site has not yet been identified, it would appear that Power has
identified some form of linear earthwork.

2.  BALLINTLEA/BARNAKILE 23:37.

In an anonymous article (J.R.S.A.I., 1906, 73-4) titled "Battle of the
Comeragh Mountain 1643", based on an earlier newspaper account taken from a
17th century pamphlet, reference is made to three discontinuous linear
earthworks or trenches which were said to have been used by the Irish in the
battle. The trenches are said to have been partly natural, utilizing
existing watercourses, and were used in places as a roadway. They are
described as running from Barnakile Castle in a westerly direction across a
natural gap, Beara Mhama, and up on to the hillside of Curraun Mountain. The
description suggests that the earthworks were part of a defensive line that
stretches from the hillside across the pass.

w

3. ISLANDIKANE SOUTH  26:63

Westropp (1914-16,222) mentions what is probably a linear earthwork near the
coast in the vicinity of the well-known promontory fort at Islandikane South
and East: "A great ditch running north and south 16 feet 8 inches wide and

4 feet to 5 feet deep with a fence 11 feet high and nearly 10 feet thick ...."
He states that as it is far larger than the other field fences and as it is
not on the present bounds of the townland it may be " an ancient mearing".
Unfortunately he does not tell us how long it is.

4.  LISFINNY,SION 28:12 (Plate 1)

This site is depicted on Scale's map as a linear earthwork marked "Ancient
Fortification,” running on an E. - W, axis for a distance of 1.1km. For the
first 500m it is shown as a double rampart with intervening ditch. It then
continues as a single rampart términating in a short return. It is located
on level ground on the northern side of the narrow flood plain of the River
Bride. It is overlooked by higher ground on the northern side. The Fermoy-
Mallow road has obliterated all diagnostic features of this once impressive
earthwork.

The function of this monument is unclear. Its location would suggest that it
formed part of a larger complex of linear earthworks in the area. It could have
served as part of a defensive line at the base of a ridge overlooking the River
Bride. Alternatively it could have been part of a fortified communication link.
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5.  GARRYBRITTAS 28:8 (Plate 2)

This 1inear earthwork is also shown in the townlands of Ahaunboy North,
Ahaunboy South, Aglish, Knocknamuc North and Ballymartin North. The site

is depicted on Scale's map as an extensive double banked earthwork with
intervening ditch, marked "Antient Fortification", running for approx. 2.25km
across relatively level terrain between 160 and 200 feet above sea level. It
forms a townland boundary except for a short section in the west. It emerges
from a circular, bivallate ditched enclosure (20m in diameter, marked as a
“Danish Fort") in the north and runs south for some 300 metres before
abruptly turning in an E.S.E. direction for a distance of 1.2km. 1t changes
direction again and continues in a gentle sweep for approx. 850m before
ending abruptly.

About halfway along the ESE. line of the earthwork Scale depicts a double-
banked rectangular enclosure {approx. 30m x 25m) which seems to straddle the
earthwork. A stream is shown on the 6" 0.S. map close to this enclosure and
it may have fed water into the enclosure ditch. This suggests that the
rectangular enclosure may have been a moated site. The presence of two
enclosures along the line of earthwork at first sight, strongly hints at its
use as part of Early Christian and medieval defences. Both enclosures have
been levelled in recent years. The present townland boundaries and field
boundaries along its line are indistinguishable from any other boundaries.
From the cartographic evidence it is impossible to say whether the enclosures
are contemporary with the construction of the linear earthwork.

6.  KILLAHALY EAST/CURRAGRAIG 29:71

In the townlands of Killahaly East and Curragraig, overlooking the west side of
"the Blackwater, Gabriel Redmond (1885-6, 399-400) says "In the middle of the
old wood, and near the hill (Camphire Hill), I discovered a large double trench
running at each side of an ancient highway, - at least so it appeared to me".
He was able to follow it for half a mile. Along part of its line he encountered
numerous heaps of blackened stones which he took to be "Fullocht Fionna". The
nature of this site is unclear but he does seem to be describing a substantial
linear earthwork.

7.  GLENNAGLOGH 33:11

A section of the Cork/Waterford border forming the townland boundary between
Glennaglogh and Breda, Co. Cork is marked on Bateman's map as "an ould Ditch".
This section is approx. 1km long. Perhaps its appearance or some local
tradition current at the time suggested or demonstrated its antiquity.

8.  "CLEE-DUFF"

|

\Smith (1746, 375) having described the "Rian Bo Phadraig" goes on to identify
a linear earthwork:
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The other piece of antiquity, which still remains in this barony,
is somewhat of the nature of the former, and is a remarkable ditch
which runs westerly from Cappoquin, into the county of Cork, how
far is uncertain. This the Irish call Clee-Duff, and give several
uncertain and improbable reasons for this work. As it extends
through the plain along the sides of the mountains, it is
conjectured that this was no other than a fence of boundary made to
preserve their cattle against Wolves, which coming down from the
mountains made frequent havock among them; and this seems the
most probable cause why this intrenchment was cast up.

It would appear that Smith has noted the existence of a linear earthwork

which, if his information is correct, is approx. 10 miles in length. Power
(1932, 9-12) plotted the approximate course of a linear earthwork in east

Cork also called "An Cliadhe Dubh". At present it is not clear if the
Waterford "Clee-Duff" is part of the same system. Power also makes reference
to an "earthen fence" running at right angles to an ancient road near the Cork/
Waterford border in the Lisfinny-Tallow area (1932,71). It is possible that
this earthen fence is the one depicted by Scale at Garrybrittas (No.5).

Discussion :

On the present evidence it is not possible to ascertain the exact nature,
function or date of the County Waterford linear earthworks. Study of linear
earthworks in Ireland has been focussed for the most part on the series in
the northern part of the country collectively known as the Black Pig's Dyke,
Kane (1909) saw the Black Pig's Dyke as the "ancient boundary fortification of
Ulster". While there may be an essence of truth in Kane's interpretation,
Davies (1955) and Lynn (1981) both stress the need for caution in envisaging
a single frontier or series of frontiers for the ancient kingdom of Ulster
without further archaeological research into individual sections of the Black
Pig's Dyke. Apart from, perhaps, the "Clee-duff" (No.8), which appears to
cover at least 10 miles, the County Waterford series of linear earthworks do
not offer the same temptation to reconstruct assumed protohistoric frontiers
on the same scale as the Black Pig's Dyke. However, some of them may have
had a similar function as frontier defences between smaller tribal territories.
The assumption of tribal frontiers or subdivisions of territories based on
early Irish literary sources may never be proven, especially when one
considers that these petty kingdoms may have been constantly growing or
contracting depending on the state of political allegiances at the time.

One of the main difficulties in seeing the Black Pig's Dyke as a frontier
fortification is the apparent absence of forts or sentry posts along its
length (similar to the fortlets which protected Hadrian's Wall). This lack of
evidence for any permanent garrison or manning of the frontier led Davies
(1950,29) to speculate that one function of the Black Pig's Dyke may have been
to prevent cattle raiders escaping with their booty without encountering
resistance at predetermined access points. Given what is known of early Irish
warfares and disputes this speculation is quite plausible and some of the
Waterford examples may have served this purpose. It should also be noted that
Scale in his depiction of the Garrybrittas earthwork shows two enclosures along
the course of the earthwork, one circular and one rectangular. Unfortunately,
both of these enclosures and the linear earthwork are now levelled, but it
would be very interesting if either or both of these enclosures could be shown to
be contemporary with the Garrybrittas linear earthwork and if they functioned as
garrison forts to protect a frontier.

: i t Lisfij No.4).
PLATE 1: (Opposite) % 25$5d52£§h¥855t%sy 3? %HgyT$ustegs of the

National Library of Ireland).
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Another function of linear earthworks is the protection or garrisoning
of routeways or strategic passes. The Dorsey enclosure, Co. Armagh (Lynn
1981), is likely to have fulfilled this role. Perhaps the earthwork at
Barnakile (No.2) may have served this purpose.

It is also possible that some linear earthworks may have had no defensive
function at all. The degraded surface remains of linear earthworks which
today may suggest a non-defensive function may be the only visible remains of
a more complicated line of defence. Excavation would be necessary to assess
the exact function of any linear earthwork; for example Walsh (1987) in his
excavation of a section of the Black Pig's Dyke showed that a line of double
bank and ditch was accompanied by a roughly parallel wooden palisade. This
triple line of defence would have provided a formidable fortification.

Linear earthworks may also form part of an agricultural landscape serving
as major land division boundaries possibly defining ownership or agricultural
use. It is also interesting to note that 0'Riordain (1950, 270-1) in his
excavation report on some earthworks on the Curragh, Co. Kildare, brings to
our attention two extensive linear earthworks, the 'Race of the Black Pig'
and the 'Black Ditch'. He excavated a section of the 'Race of the Black Pig'
and on the basis of his results, which show that the 'Race' consists of a
double bank with intervening ditch, he dismissed 0'Donovan's interpretation that
it was a roadway. He tentatively favours the theory that it could be some sort
of cattle droveway. Since there is no evidence of tillage ever having been
carried out on the Curragh, it would seem unlikely that there should be any
need to ‘channel' cattle across the Curragh from one pasture to another. While
livestock separation or property demarcation is more likely, a defensive
function cannot be ruled out. : '

Dating :

Before excavations at the Dorsey, Co. Armagh (Lynn , 1981), and a section
of the Black Pig's Dyke at Aghareagh West, Co. Monaghan (Walsh 1987), most
speculation on the origin of linear earthworks centred on the theory that they
may have been modelled to some extent on Roman 'limes' (Davies 1955,29; Herity
and Eogan 1977). Evidence from the Dorsey and the Black Pig's Dyke date both
structures to the latter half of the 1st millenium B.C., however. These results
seem to vindicate the views of those who see linear earthworks as forming part
of the Later Prehistoric material assemblage. Although the Irish limear
earthworks may have served a similar purpose to Roman walls, i.e. frontier
fortification, it is now unlikely in view of the dating evidence from the Dorsey
and the Black Pig's Dyke that they were inspired in any way by Roman frontier
defences. Condit and Gibbons (1988, 52) noted that the Rathduff trench
(depicted on Lythe's map of Idrone) seems to have formed the ancient boundary
between Ossory and Idrone. Recent excavations at Shankill, Co. Kilkenny on the
supposed course of the Rathduff trench (0'Flaherty 1987) failed to show
conclusively that the excavated site was part of the Rathduff trench and
insufficient charcoal meant that radio-carbon dating could not be carried out.
In Britain linear earthworks are thought to have been in use from Bronze Age
times to the medieval period. Cunliffe (1974, 83-4) sees linear earthworks as
‘a new concept in defensive architecture arising late in the British Iron Age'.

PLATE 2: (Opposite).

Portion of Garrybrittas linear earthwork (No.5). _
(Reproduced courtesy of the Trustees of the National Library of Ireland).
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It can be assumed that the Irish examples could have functioned over a similar
period of time. It should also be noted that there is a possibility that linear
earthworks were re-used in medieval times as defences (Davies 1955, 29-30),

The presence of what appears to be a ringfort and a moated site at Barrybrittas
(No.5) emphasises the multiperiod use of linear earthworks. Ré-use of

linear earthworks continues even into relatively modern times as at Glennaglogh
(No.7) where part of the Cork/Waterford county boundary appears to re-use part
of a pre-existing linear earthwork.

The size and extended courses of linear earthworks would certainly have
required a considerable output of resources and manpower for their construction.
This in turn implied that there must have been some central authority or
'organization unit' with the powers to call upon a community or communities
to supply the necessary manpower. This willingness to protect large tracts of
land indicates that land was at a premium and that grazing stock, especially
cattle, was highly valued.

Conclusion:

While it is difficult to provide a definite cultural context for linear
earthworks in County Waterford, other sites considered to be of Later Prehistoric
date, namely hillforts and promontory forts, have been located in the county
(Westropp 1906; 1914-16, Jackson 1988, Condit and Gibbons 1987). The overall
picture (Fig.1) points to a widespread Later Prehistoric activity in County
Waterford. The identification of an important group of linear earthworks adds
a significant new dimension to the archaeology of the county. The problem of
dating, which obviously requires further investigation, again focusses
attention on the Later Prehistoric period, a period which at the moment s
somewhat nebulous but nevertheless intriguing. The questions which arise are
manifold. Further research and excavation will certainly help to refine our
appreciation of this spectacular monument type.
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Sea lLife Of

Wal€ter J. Farrell.

Born 16th July, 1862, at 10, Sion Row, later number 11. Commenced
schooling at Christian Brothers, Mount Sion, later Father Joe Phelan's School,
Stephen Street, Waterford. I regret to say discipline in the latter school
was rather lax. My old chum Dick Dillon and myself spent many days learning
to smoke a pipe in Millwards field.

About 1877, the fami]y'moved to 57, High Street, where my father set my
mother up in the provision business, but it did not succeed. I commenced
life behind the counter, escaping school.

1878, Captain P. Nowlan offered me a berth as boy in his barque "Queen
of the North" of London, G. Lidgett, owner.

FIRST VOYAGE

I joined the "Queen of the North" in London and sailed for Madras, May
1878, where we arrived in due course and anchored about 2 miles off the shore,
it being an open roadstead. Discharged the cargo into surf boats and loaded
red wood, hides &c., for London, where we arrived May 1879, after pumping the
old ship from London to Madras and back to London. She was a good old sea
boat, but getting rather soft. 1 made the 12 months voyage without ever
touching dry land. The old packet when discharged was sold to Norweigans.

SECOND VOYAGE

I joined the barque Lorraine as an 0.S. and sailed for Mauritius and
Rangoon from London, October 1879. We had a Mr. Andeson, his wife and three
children passengers, Mr. Andeson was a Wesleyan clergyman, very far gone, 1
should think, in consumption - a nice gentleman, he died about the Equator
four weeks after leaving London. We arrived in due course at Mauritius,
discharged our cargo for that port and sailed for Rangoon. Loaded rice in
Rangoon and sailed for Callao, Peru. Arrived off Callao about April 1880,
and were informed by a Chilian Naval vessel that that port was blockaded,that
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Chile was at war with Peru. We went South and put into Pisco an open
roadstead where it took us some three months to discharge our cargo of rice
and take in ballast.

It was a very good climate, sunshine all day and cool at night. Us boys
had the job to bring off casks of water when not working cargo. We brought
our two large water casks ashore to the town water tap, but had to allow the
natives get their supply. After filling we had to roll the cask nearly two
miles which was rather hard work, the mole or wharf was nearly a mile long,
with cranes on the end. At the end of three months we sailed for Talcahuano,
Conception Bay, where we loaded wheat for Falmouth for orders. Arriving there
33 months later and got orders for Fleetwood, a voyage of 19 months ended on
9th May, 1881.

3rd VOYAGE

On 20th June, 1881 1 sailed from Cardiff as A.B. in the same barque
Lorraine, Captain Nolan, for Imbatuba, Brazil, where we arrived in good time
with a cargo of rails and a 20 ton barge on deck. This bay was somewhat better
than Tramore Bay, the rolling and pitching during gales was very bad, however,
we rigged gear and put our barge in the water one fine day, this craft and
a couple of other small barges was the only means of discharge, during our
stay a couple of vessels arrived making the discharge rather slow, as they
had to get a share of the barges, I often saw the rail bar being hoisted and
take charge with the rolling of the ship and water washing around the deck.
After a bad night we would have a look around at daylight to see if any of
the vessels blew ashore, which they did eventually. In the forecastle we
kept our belongings packed in our bags, ready for a jump should we go ashore,
loss of life never entered our minds. After about two months discharging part
of our cargo in this ungodly bay, we sailed for the land locked harbour Santa
Catherine. Before passing from Imbatuba this bay was a handy position to land
our cargo of rail material, for a new rail line under construction. There was
not a house to be seen, one should walk a couple of miles inland before we -
got to a farmer's house, which we did on Sundays and returned with a fair
share of oranges and bananas, which the good people gave us free. It was a
great treat to be anchored in the calm harbour of Santa Catherena, where we
finished the discharge of the cargo, took in ballast and sailed for Valparaiso
for orders. After the usual dressing off Cape Horn, we arrived and got orders
to proceed to San Francisco, had fine weather right up to this port where we
arrived in the early part of 1882. San Francisco is a very fine bay, and was
infested by sailors Boarding house Crimps, dressed in the very best heavy gold
watch chains and rings to match and usual bottle of firewater etc. As soon as
the sails were fast and decks cleared those gentlemen took charge of the
forecastle. We had a rather steady crew of British and they would not take
any drink or leave the ship. We lay in the bay for about a week awaiting
cargo, and were visited by one of the Crimps each evening, as we did not drink,he
brought aboard a fair supply of good fruit, which I need not say, we enjoyed
without any i11 effects. After a week in the bay the Lorraine was placed
alongside the wharf. On a Saturday night two of the hands were bluffed into
leaving the vessel, but saw their mistake in time and got back to the ship
same night minus their bag of sea clothes. On the Sunday morning the 1st Mate
and I made our way to the boarding house, while the Mate was talking to the boss
of the house, I got my eyes on the sailors bag and walked off with it on my
back, the Mate saw me walking away and kept talking to the Boarding Master a
couple of minutes, and walked after me overtaking me as I was going aboard
puffed out with excitement and the weight of the bag. We did not have much
trouble in getting the other fellow's bag as he fell alongside the ship and
got injured, the other Boarding Master gave his bag to three of us that went up
and told him a lot of lies.
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When ballast was discharged and stiffening taken aboard, the ship was
towed to Port Costa, Sacramento River, and loaded with wheat for U.K. for
orders. Towed out of San Francisco one fine morning, had fairly good passage
around the Horn, arrived at Falmouth latter part of September. Got orders
for Fleetwood, where we arrived, and paid off 9th August, 1882, after 13}
months voyage.

4th VOYAGE,1882.

1882, Oct. 20th.

1 again joined the Lorraine, Captain Nolan, at Workington and sailed
20th October,1882, for Bombay as A.B. where we arrived the end of January,
1882, discharged cargo and loaded linseed for Amsterdam Sept. 26th 1883, after
eleven months voyage. I left the Lorraine, went to London to study at
Captain Maxwells Potters Academy, Tower Hill, where there was a wild lot of
young sea-men. I spent a fair share of my money on amusement, Music halls,
Theatres &c., and not enough time on study, failed in exam. and came home. I
had a fancy to do a little coasting.

Sth VOYAGE.
1884, 23rd Jany.

I joined the brig Ospray at Waterford, as AB, Pat Mahon, Master, Matthew
Farrell & Son, Owners and left the brig at Cardiff, 28th May, 1884 after a
pleasant 3 months on good food and light work.

6th VOYAGE.

6th June,1884.

I joined the $S Centurion of London at Cardiff, Captain Mitchel, and left
her 18th 0ct.1884. I did not care for the work on this vessel, at times it
was very dirty, and bad 1iving quarters. The Captain's wife and a couple of
children were aboard, his young daughter was always with me when painting
winches, as I used black paint, the little girl would be in a terrible mess,
I did a 1ot of sail repairs which was the only pleasant time I had, with the
little girl chatting away asking me all about my previous 1ife, they were the
pleasant hours in steam before the mast, listening to this innocent 1ittle
child prattling away during working hours. I left the S/S Centurion at
Granton, Oct. 1884, to join Captain Nolan's Waterford. Got orders for Hull
to which port we were towed, arriving there 10th July,1887 , after a voyage
of 17 months.

9th VOYAGE.
1887 - August 5th.

Joined Lodestar as 2nd Mate, Captain Nolan im charge and sailed for Bombay,
discharged the cargo, loaded part cargo of salt for Calcutta, after discharging
the salt, loaded cargo wheat &c., for London, arriving there 3rd Oct. 1888,
after a 14th months voyage, Captain went home to Waterford leaving me by the
ship.
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10th VOVAGE.
1888 - Nov.17th.

Sailed for San Francisco again in Lodestar, Captain Nolan. I got no time
to study for I1st Mate's Certificate. We arrived without mishap rounding the
Horn, had a good time at San Francisco after working hours, being well known
among Waterford people and their descendants, especially the Butler family
where 1 was always welcome, but all those pleasures must give way to duty on
the Ship. Loaded grain U.K. for orders as usual, called at Queenstown Nov.
1889, got orders for Plymouth where we arrived and paid off 2nd November,1889.

Attended Merryfields Navigation School and passed for 1st Mate, and
joined my friend through life viz: - Captain P. Nowlan of Lodestar, in time
to tow to Newport where we arrived Xmas Eve 1889, to load railway material
for River Plate.

11th Voyage.
1890 - Feby. 5th.

Sailed for Buenos Aires, River Plate, as 1st Mate of Lodestar, Captain
Nolan in charge, arriving middle of April 1890. Discharged cargo into
barges. The ship was anchored some three miles off the land, therefore, only
the Captain visited the shore when the launch came for him. When a certain
amount of cargo was discharged the ballast was taken aboard, we were to
proceed to Iquique to load nitrate for Hamburg. Left the Plate end of May.
Had the usual strong westerly winds carrying away the truss of our lower
topsail Yard, fortunately one end held aloft by topsail sheet, the deck end
was lashed at once. The tub of the upper topsail yard was broken, the yard
was hanging in the 1ifts as the Ship was rolling heavy, the Yard used to
bang against the topmast and was in danger of carrying away that mast, 1
had to go aloft with a rope to secure the yard, which I found a very hard job,
we had mostly foreigners in the crew, I could not get an offer from any of
the men to light up the rope and give me some help. The Steward, a Londoner,
and an old ship-mate, said wherever you go, I go, even if we go together. We
found it very hard to hang on when the yard would strike the mast, however,
we secured the yard, came down on deck and gave the crew a bit of our minds.
We reached Iquique in good time and got all our damage repaired, whilst
discharging the ballast and taking stiffening aboard, when this was done we
moored in the tiers with all the ships loading which were very numerous in
those sailing ship days. It was very pleasant in the evening after work, to
hear some ship ring her bell and sing some-song with a good chorus, when the
song was finished they again rang the bell and hailed some ship, calling out
her name, the vessel called, rang her bell and gave a song. We had a couple
of hours of this every night, I am not certain about Sunday. We did not lay
far from the shore, but sailors were only allowed one day ashore in six months,
so they had to make their own amusement. They, the crew, had their day in this
port where there was very little to be seen, but some got top heavy with
liquor. I did not go ashore as I would not have a companion, the 2nd Mate,
Mr. Doubleday, a very nice young fellow, would have to remain on board.

Left Iquique early in September and arrived in Hamburg latter part of
January, 1891, where all hands were paid off. I informed my good friend
Captain Nolan, I intended to go into steam, as I had my time in for Master's
Certificate. On arriving back as passenger to England, I railed to Plymouth
and commenced to study for Master's exam. at Merryfields Navigation School.



33.
Sea Life of Walter J. Farrell.

I was there only a couple of weeks when news reached me that the SS
"Roxborough Castle" was sunk in a collision in the North Sea, my brother
John whom was 1st Mate was lost with that ship. This upset me a bit, so I
packed up and came home for a few weeks. Funds getting low, I took a berth
as 2nd Mate of the SS "Racilia” of Newcastle-on-Tyne, I remained in this
ship seven months, came home and buried my father 8th Dec. 1891, the following
January I returned to Plymouth, completed my studies and passed for Master.

February, 1892 -

I joined the Waterford Steamship Co., 2nd Mate of "Comeragh" also Lara
and Menapia 2nd Mate of the last mentioned ship was a rather hard job, up
at night working cargo at Tenby and Pembroke, our trade was Bristol and
Wexford, calling at the other ports on the passage to Wexford. For this
work the sailors were paid 2/- extra per week and the 2nd Mate 1/6 just
fancy, however, 1 knew it would not last too long. After some six months,I
was sent to Liverpool, Mate of the S/S " Creaden* trading Liverpool, Fenit,
Galway. This was a real Gentleman's job, 8 hours in Fenit and on to Galway,
where we had two to three days, and on to Liverpool, generally arrived
Sunday night and sailed the following Friday, no cargo to work only look
after the little vessel. Liverpool was rather expensive owing to Music Hall
and Theatres, as I did not know any friends there. Nine months of this and
I was placed temporarily in charge of Lara S/S and other vessels of the fleet.

4th October,1895 -

I was placed in charge of the SS "Creaden" and sent up to Hamburg to open
the Continental Trade for the Limerick Steam Ship Co. Ltd., and had the honour
of bringing the first cargo of Continental sugar to Fenit and Limerick, as
the trade improved this vessel of 500 tons capacity became too small.

7th May, 1896 -
I was placed in charge of the SS "Ardnamult" a ship capable of 1,300 tons,

and continued in this vessel until May, 1903, a space of seven years, with the
exception of a few months bringing out the SS "Sinainn".

In those years the Hamburg trade was very good, full cargoes every trip
during nine months of the year and an odd vessel chartered to keep up the
trade. '

In May 1903, I came to Waterford and took charge of SS Comeragh on the
Liverpool trade.

I took up the position of Harbour Master, Oct. 1903, and bid farewell to
sea life.

W. J. FARRELL.
1935.
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Coin Find At Killea.

Will Forbes.

Late last year, Mr. Nicholas Walsh of Dunamore East asked if
I could identify a coin for him. At the time, a film was being
shot in Dunmore, one scene of which was located in the graveyard
outside the Catholic church. I understand the coin to have been
found while digging within the graveyard in connection w1th the
film, in proximity to a headstone bearing the date 1728 (7)1

The present church stands on the site of the medieval parish
church of Killea (Killethe, Cill Aedha), in the medieval period
dedicated to the Holy Cross. Its nomenclature indicates there
was a pre-Norman church on the site. It was valued at the fairly
substantial sum of 12 marks in the ecclesiastical taxation of
1302-1306. The remains were dated in the last century to the
14th/15th century. Fifty years ago, “little beyond a square
tower survives ...... the lower courses buried in the accumulated
loam of a crowded graveyard".2

The silver coin is recently (presumably at the time of its
finding) broken in two, and is fairly worn. A small triangular-
shaped piece is missing; this is an ancient break.

Reference to Brookes' "English Coins", allows the coin to be
identified as an English Groat of the 4th series of Edward III's
coinage, minted in London between 1351-1361, as in Brooke,

Plate XXX, 1.

What is actually legible on the Killea coin is :
OBVERSE "EDWA ... - FRANC.D.HYB"
REVERSE "CIVI/TAS/-UII/DO11 POSVI

This may be restored as "EDWA(RD DEI GRA REX ANGL Z) FRANC.D. HYB",
i.e. "Edward by the grace of God King of England and France, Lord
of Ireland”, and "CIVITAS LONDON". The style of lettering used
precludes the coin from being attributed to Edward I or IV; groats

were not minted by Edward II.
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The titles used by Edward 111 on his coinage were determined
by the ups and downs of the Hundred Years' War with France. After
the peace of Bretigny (1360), Edward dropped the title of King of
France, and his second series of groats (1369-1377) reflected on
varying obverse legends, the renewed claim to France. The style
of ampersand used ( Z, not F) precludes the Killea coin from
belonging to Edward's final series.

The amount of wear on the coin suggests to the inexpert eye
a loss sometime in the last quarter of the 14th century. The o01d
break on the coin indicates it has been dug up in the course of
burial at least once previous to its recently coming to light,.

NOTES

1. 1I'd like to thank Mr. Walsh for bringing the coin to my
attention, and for information on the circumstances of the
find. The coin was not found by Mr. Walsh, and remains in
private possession. ~ I have not examined the site myself.

2. 0'Donovan, pp.8-9
c.D.I., p.303.
Power, p.198
The site is located on Waterford 6" sheet ++27, 24cm. from the
top, and c37.5cm. from the right, and lies in a detached
portion of the townland of Commons.

3. No metrical data were taken-.
4. The above paragraphs are entirely dependent on Brooke.
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Parnell and the Leadership

_ | of

N ationalist Ireland.

Dr. Martin Mansergh.

The next few years were spent mainly consolidating the strength
of the party, in order to bring maximum pressure on the British
parties to grant Home Rule. 1In the .process, Parnell created a
party discipline hitherto unknown in these islands. Apart from
developing a machine, with the help of the local clergy, that pushed
the right candidates through conventions, the centre piece was the
party pledge, which read as follows: 'I pledge myself that in the
event of my election to parliament, I will sit, act and vote with
the Irish Parliamentary Party, and if at a meeting of the party
convened upon due notice specially to consider the question, it be
decided by a resolution supported by a majority of the entire
parliamentary party that I have not fulfilled the above pledge, I
hereby undertake forthwith to resign my seat'. It is many people's
belief to this day that elected representatives should be able to
act according to their own lights, and that party should be at best
a loose federation. The ineffectiveness of that system can be seen
by looking at Butt's party. The best justification for such
discipline is once again provided by Dr. Conor Cruise 0'Brien who
wrote: 'A united party was essential if anything practical was to be
achieved, and a united party was necessarily a disciplined one and
therefore machine-controlled. The sacrifices involved - including
often the rejection of individuals of high integrity and ability in
favour of pliant henchmen had to be accepted if political effectiveness
was to be secured'. The tight party discipline of the Parnellite




Parnell and the Leadership of Nationalist Ireland. 37.

party, including the pledge, is a tradition that has been handed on
to the political parties of independent Ireland, There was of
course a price to be paid for the tight discipline of the Parnellite
Party. The split when {1t came in 1890-91 was exceptionally
damaging.

Like any effective leader before and after him with a
disciplined organization, Parnell was constantly accused of
dictatorship, and of not sufficiently consulting his colleagues.
There is of course not the sligchtest evidence that he ever toyed
with the idea of any Government other than representative democracy.
He occasionally pandered to this image of himself, when tongue in
cheek he gave names to his racehorses and hunters such as 'Dictator’,
'President', and 'Tory'. He cultivated an aloofness and an air of
mystery about him which few other leaders could afford to do. 'Never
explain, never apologise', was one of his mottoes. His prestige as
a leader derived, according to the testimony of his colleagues above
all from his ability to know what to do in a crisis. Indeed one
could argue that constitutes the very essence of political
leadership. He of course took advice. He told John Dillon: 'Get the
advice of everybody whose advice is worth having - they are very few
and then do what you think best yourself'. The rest, 1'm afraid,
he regarded as troops in the lobby. He once said: *‘In politics,
as in war, there are no men only weapons'. The trouble was that in
the crisis of 1890-91, the rank and file suddenly took on a life of
their own. Outside of parliament his colleagues, some of whom were
very gifted, were allowed to take part in campaigns, the Plan of
Campaign being the obvious example, of which Parnell did not really
approve. Davitt was given his head to promote his ideas on land
nationalization. On candidates, Parnell did not have strong views
of his own, and took the advice of people like Tim Healy and Tim
Harrington. He presided over an enormous democratization of the
party, the landowners with their lack of amenability to party
discipline being replaced by the sort of representation that would
be much more recognizable today. He was careful to do nothing up
upset the widest possible extension of the franchise to Ireland,
leaving Chamberlain and others under the impression that the artisans
and farm labourers would support the propertied interest. Gladstone
considered him the most remarkable political figure he had ever met.
Parnell, although proud, but modest too, said of Gladstone : 'He
knows more moves on the board than I do’. :

He travelled round Ireland by hired train, to save time, with
a compartment to himself, with different colleagues being summoned
to consultations by a secretary. He made a lot of speeches at
railway stations. He had a refreshing attitude to the mountains of
correspondence which every political leader receives. Katherine
0'Shea recalled his advice: 'If you get tired with them, leave them
and they'11l answer themselves'. As became clear in the divorce
crisis, he saw himself not merely as a party leader, but as the
leader of a national movement, and he appealed to the country over
the head of the party, when it sought to reverse their unanimous
vote of confidence in him. Like most politicians, he had not much
time to read. Nevertheless his speeches contained quotations from
experts of the day. His favourite book was that manual of dialectical
debate 'Alice in Wonderland'. Certainly it is hard to think of a
better book for teaching one to choose one's words carefully. He
wrote many of his own speeches in the library of the House of Commons,
1usua]ly in a last minute rush, and was apt to lose half of them
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between the library and the House, But draft speeches and
interviews were also prepared for him by a number of different people,
Fanny Parnell, Tim Hea]i, T.P,0'Connor, Katherine 0'Shea and no
doubt many others. He had a directness of seeech and a gift for

the memorable phrase. As T.P.0'Connor recalled, 'he had the
instinct of genius for the kind of thing that would appeal to his
people. He was not overly concerned with consistency, and was quite
happy with the notion that judgements be revised in the light of
circumstances and experience. If Professor Lyons' major biography
is to be faulted, it is that he seeks and expects too much
consistency, and therefore has to explain away statements not
consistent with the moderate constitutional nationalist phase of

the late 1880's.

The achievement with which Parnell is most associated was by
ruthless opportunistic tactics, persuading one of the great British
parties to bring in a Home Rule Bill. He rejected a compromise
of fered by Chamberlain of greater powers for local government. The
fruit of party discipline was gathered when holding the exact
balance of power with 86 seats he put first the Liberals and then
the Tories out of power. That required a lot of self-confidence to
do. The first Home Rule Bill, partly modelled on the British North
America Act of 1867, would have set up a Government responsible to
Parliament in Dublin with responsibility for domestic affairs,
including the police and judiciary, but reserving defence, foreign
policy and importantly the regulation of foreign trade, customs and
excise to the British Parliament. Parnell had publicly stated his
interest in using tariff barriers to create Irish domestic industry,
rather in the manner of Bismarckian Germany, and this could have
been a significant factor in Chamberlain's opposition to Home Rule.
There was to be no Irish representation at Westminister. Subsequently,
even in the late 1880's there was much backtracking, with Gladstone
wanting to reserve control over the police and the judiciary for an
interim period, and hedging over a final solution of the land
problem by large scale land purchase. Reduced Irish representation at
Westminister was to be reinstated to preserve the link, but the
question was naturally whether this would be sufficient leverage to
hold the British to their promise of transferring some of the
reserved powers.

Assessment of the achievement, by which I mean the recognition
of the principle of Home Rule by a British Government, depends on
the extent, to which it could be considered as a final solution. The
whole Unionist case against the Home Rule Bill was of course that it
was not final, that it paved the way for complete separation.
Parnell's assurances that it was final are not to be taken at face
value, and they were only personal assurances. He had after all been
prepared to call the land settlement of 1882 final at the time. In
many speeches and interviews in 1885 he made very clear in advance
what he thought of the term final. 'No man has the right to fix the
boundary to the march of a nation. No man has a right to say to his
country, 'Thus far shalt thou go and no further', and we have never
attempted to fix the ne plus ultra to the progress of Ireland's
nationhood, and we hever shall'. In a newspaper interview in October
1885, he was asked, why he would not give guarantees that
legislative independence would not lead to separation. He replied:
'l refuse to give guarantees because I have none of any value to give
...... I have no mandate from the Irish people to dictate a course of
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action to those who may succeed us'. What he aimed at was self
government such as was enjoyed by Canada and the larger colonies,
and he also referred to Hungary as a model, and he clearly saw that
it would evolve. His private reaction to the first Home Rule Bill
as recorded by Katherine 0'Shea was: 'This Bill will do as a
beginning; they shall have more presently'. In an interview with
Gladstone in opposition in the late 1880's, Gladstone recorded of
his meeting with Parnell:

He thought the turning-point lay in a Dublin Parliament.
He did not see what would be given short of this that
could be worth taking: whereas if this could be had,
even with insufficient powers, it might be accepted.

1 uriderstood him to mean might be accepted as a
beginning.

While Cecil Rhodes tried to interest him in ideas of imperial
federation, Parnell remained non-committal. Whether he could ever
have become a tame dominion style prime minister is a moot point.

It is consistently held against Parnell nowadays that like most
other Nationalist leaders he did not understand Protestant Ulster,
which is a short hand for saying he did not accept in full the
validity of the Unionist case. Conor Cruise 0'Brien, on whose
study of Parnell I rely once again,was of the opinion that Parnell
alone could have brought in Home Rule for the whole of Ireland.
After all in 1885 he did win a slender majority of the Ulster seats,
and he made the most of that argument.

It never occurred to him that counties which did not ever
have a Protestant majority could be handed over to a separate
parliament for the North-East corner, and that meant of course most
Protestants would be left outside its jurisdiction and thus
relatively worse off. He did not sympathise with the Orangemen, an
attitude for which it is hard to blame him. In one speech he
stated

This battle is being waged against Ireland by a
class of landlords. This loyalty that they boast
is loyalty to their own pockets.

but then went on somewhat rashly to predict :

A11 I can say is that 1000 men of the Royal Irish
Constabulary will be amply sufficient to cope
with all the rowdies that the Orangemen of the
North of Ireland can produce.

His basic approach was summed up in the famous sentence :
'We cannot afford to give up a single Irishman'. \Unfortunately,
today, in many quarters the opposite seems to be the motto - 'We
cannot afford not to give up a million and a half Irishmen and
women'. Certainly in 1891 in a tour through the North, he
recorded his admiration of the North's industrial prowess, and
stressed the importance of conciliating religious fears. Then as
now, Northern Unionist opinion was not interested in having fears
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conciliated, they only wanted them confirmed, and the divorce
case provided useful propaganda material.

Parnell does not appear to have been a particularly religious
man. When asked about his religion, he described himself as
‘a synodsman of the disestablished church'. His nationalist
political attitudes, his uninhibited part in the assault on
landlordism meant of course that politically he did not represent
Protestant opinion. Indeed, many of his fellow landlords detested
him and regarded him as a traitor to his class. But he sought to
serve the nation not his class or his co-religionists, though
conscious of their sensitivities. He recognized, as Wolfe Tone
recognised a century before him, without sentimentality, that
national progress could only be made with the majority of the
people. But for all that he led an overwhelmingly Catholic
following, he was not and here I must differ sharply from Dr.
0'Brien in States of Ireland - an honorary Catholic in his
politics and still less of course in his private life. He did
believe in an Ireland in which Protestants had a future, as the
most significant minority in the country. Going to the opposite
extreme, Paul Bew in his brief Gill's life, while performing a
useful service by highlighting Parnell's perspective as a Southern
Anglo-Irish Protestant landlord, overstresses the point and to my
mind greatly exhaggerates Parnell's conservative streak and his
regard for his own class interest as the key to understanding him.
It is true the type of land settlement he envisaged did not involve
wholesale expropriation and expulsion of his own class. On the
contrary, it facilitated their survival but it completely undermined
their existing position. Certainly by 1890 he had attracted quite
a few Protestants including from the North to join the parliamentary
ranks. Many of them did not support him during the split.

The relationship between Parnell and the Catholic Church is
a fascinating subject, well documented by Emmet Larkin. Parnell
went into politics armed with a letter of recommendation from the
parish priest of Rathdrum, and included the demand for
denominational education in his personal manifesto. As political
agitator and leader he encountered a good deal of clerical
opposition at least into the mid-1880's. But equally parish
priests, bishops and even archbishops were among his warmest
admirers. The clergy were involved with his full approval in the
organisation of the party and in particular the selection of
candidates at convention. The parish priest of Clonoulty in
Tipperary enthused:'As Caesar said of old, Parnell might say, "I
came, I saw, I conquered", 'Without attempting to play the Dictator,
as he never does, his words were law to the convention'. Archbishop
Croke crowed to the Vatican: 'It now comes to pass that the man who
was so bitterly assailed by the famous Roman circular is now the
recognised leader of the Irish bishops, priests and people.

Some historians reckon that Parnell's leadership with its
political successes raised the self-esteem of the priests as an
educated class. Indeed, of course, he raised the whole morale of
the Irish nation at home and abroad. Throughout the 188C's Parnell
enjoyed the support of a marvellous and forthright churchman,
Archbishop Croke, who defended him against charges of Communism
levelled by some of his episcopal colleagues, who defended the
Ladies Land League against the charge of immodesty and impropriety,
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and who with another great Churchman, Archbishop Walsh, from the
mid-1880's gained the upper hand over the less nationalist
members of the hierarchy, and deflected condemnations from Rome
that were obtained by the machinations of British diplomacy, in
which the then Duke of Norfolk was heavily involved, in the hope
of driving a wedge between the church and the party. While
keeping a certain formal distance, Parnell worked closely with men
like Croke and Walsh, to the point that they felt they could rely
on him more than on some of his lieutenants, some of whom adopted a
sharply anti-clerical line. He did nothing to antagonise
unnecessarily such a powerful social force as the church and he had
regard for their special concerns such as education, but he led and
for the most part they followed. One of the factors in the situation
in late 1890 was the feeling among the Hierarchy that the Church
had 1ost too much influence, and the divorce issue represented a
golden opportunity of recovering it, as Cardinal Manning urged from
the sidelines. Despite ferocious attacks, which were perhaps so
emotional precisely because Parnell was a 'fallen idol', Parnell
did not blame the Catholic Church for what happened. He blamed
fairly and squarely English politicians. There is a story that
after the divorce case a Protestant clergyman, the Revd. Mr. McCree
came and harangued him on his morals and called on him to resign.
Parnell replied: ' Mr. McCree, I must deny your right to interfere
with this matter at all. When I was at college I had opportunities
of seeing men of your Church and of your cloth, preparing for
their profession, and I must say they were no better than they
should be morally or otherwise. But it is altogether different
with the Catholic clergy. A Catholic clergyman has to undergo a
most severe and. searching course of discipline. I do not blame the
Catholic clergy for the part they are taking in this disagreeable
ﬂispute. But I altogether deny your right to interfere. Good day,
r. McCree'.

Parnell had stormy relations with the press, especially the
English press, while having his own paper in Ireland, and giving
some of his most important interviews to the American press.
Journalists have not much changed their spots. There were a crowd
of reporters waiting for Mr. & Mrs. Parnell after the wedding in
June 1891, firmly parked outside the front door. A lady reporter
from America, 'being more enterprising than the rest' got into the
adjoining house, slipped across the balcony and into Katherine
Parnell's bedroom. While Parnell eventually agreed to talk to some
of the reporters, the lady from America he utterly refused to see'.
Mrs. Parnell recalled, 'as she had forced herself into my room, but,
undaunted, she left warning that she would cable a better interview
than any of them to her paper'. Parnell could connive at such
practices himself. Tim Healy in 1880 was deing an interview supposed
to have taken place between Parnell and the New York Tribune. 'He
would not even give me five minutes for a real interview, but simply
told me to write it, and then only made a slight suggestion after he
read it'. Such things still happen.

Tf ever a2 political leader was the victim of a concerted
newspaper campaignr against h.m, it was Parnell. His initial reaction
to the London Times of 7th March 1887, which printed a létter
purporting to be signed by him condoning the Phoenix Park murders as
part of a series of articles entitled 'Parnellism and Crime', was
typically offhand, an attitude that John Healy would thoroughly
approve of. 'I have never taken any notice of newspapers, nor of
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anyone. Why should 1 now?'; and he left home assuring Katherine
O0'Shea that the English Times was a paper of no particular
importance, after all. The forged letters, unmasked by a spelling
mistake, provided an excuse for a full-scale inquisition into
Parnellism in the early 1880's particularly during the Land League
days, at the instigation of Parnell's mortal enemies, Joseph
Chamberlain and Captain 0'Shea. A British Secret Service agent,
Henri Le Caron was wheeled in to testify against Parnell. There

is evidence that the Times campaign of articles and letters was
concocted at a very high level in the British establishment
involving for example the constitutional lawyer Dicey who was also
strongly Unionist. The Times of course did not check out the
authenticity or source of the documents it was so eager to run.
0'Shea testified to the genuineness of the letters. It ended in
Parnell's greatest triumph. The Chamberlain-0'Shea combination that
had started out by insisting O0'Shea be found a seat, which strained
but did not split the party, then moved on to the divorce issue. To
ruin Parnell was to destroy Parnellism.

Before leaving the subject of newspapers, I cannot forbear to
mention the role of William Martin Murphy, M.P., and later newspaper
proprietor, and arch enemy of Larkin, who campaigned in his
newspaper columns for the execution of James Connolly, and who of
course was to be found in the very forefront of the campaign against
Parnell, in the final phase, goading the Hierarchy to denunciation.

-He commented on Parnell, 'if we got home rule with his power.
unimpaired we should only be exchanging British parliamentary rule
for the autocracy of a man who has proved himself to be filled with
some of the worst passions of human nature'. T.P.0'Connor in after
years considered that 'of all the many agencies that finally broke
down the Irish party ,and led to the rise of Sinn Fein, the daily
Independént and William Murphy behind it must be regarded as the
most potent'. _

The divorce crisis and the split in retrospect seems
paradoxically the apotheosis of Parnell's career. Yet there was
much that was tragic and sordid about the end of a noble experiment.
Parnell himself was not free from blame. His affair, while
understandable in human terms, was reckless, but then he had little
regard for convention. He thought the storm would blow over. There
were times when his private life conflicted with and took
precedence over his political duties. He could have shown that
0'Shea had connived at it, but then there would have been no divorce
and he could not have married Mrs. 0'Shea. One of the great love
affairs of history, he valued a personal relationship ultimately
above a political cause with which he was engaged on behalf of a
whole nation. Than can be criticized. It can also be admired. If
there is any aspect relevant to the divorce debate, it is the
tenacious and desperate desire of many couples who want to marry or
remarry. From the early 1880's Parnell wrote to Katherine as 'wifie'.
The ferocity and crudity of the attacks on Kitty 0'Shea goaded
Parnell into the hyperactivity of his last months.

Matters were very badly mishandled following the disclosure of
the uncontested divorce. The Church lay low, as did the Liberals,
hoping Parnell would resign, and once the party had voted confidence
in him, he would not allow the decision to be reversed. Gladstone's
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published letter to Morley which stated that Parnell's continuance
in the leadership would be'disastrous in the highest degree to the
cause of Ireland', and render his own leadership almost a nullity’,
was a major blunder. With the full encouragement of the Church a
majority of the party promptly reversed engines, and sought to
remove Parnell from the leadership. Parnell was furious with
Gladstone, and regarded him as a hypocrite, because as Prime
Minister he had regularly used Mrs. 0'Shea as intermediary with
Parnell, knowing full well their relationship.

Any political party that allows outside pressure to dictate
who shall be its leader suffers such demoralization as to put at
risk its future. But there was a more fundamental issue at stake,
the solidity of the Liberal Alliance. It has been assumed by his
opponents and by historians that this was an opportunistic
diversion. Perhaps it was, but Parnell had genuine grounds for
doubts about the political will of the Liberals lTong before the
divorce judgement broke. In 1889 he promised that if
constitutional nationalism were to fail, he would not stay for 24
hours at Westminster. 'The most advanced section of Irishmen, as
well as the least advanced, have always thoroughly understood that
the parliamentary policy was to be a trial and that we did not
ourselves believe in the possibility of maintaining for all time, or
for any lengthy period, an incorrupt and independent Irish
representation at Westminster'. Privately he told Kettle after his
meeting with Gladstone in 1888 that the Liberal Party was
thoroughly unsure, and that only three men shared Gladstone's
convictions. Without a strong majority, there was no hope of- getting
it through the House of Lords, and it might be successively
watered down by backbenchers. He therefore sought to set as the
price of his departure from the leadership watertight guarantees that
the Irish Parliament would have full control over the police,
Judiciary and the settlement of the land question, and if not, that
Irish representation at Westminster would be retained in full.

One of the people who had most understanding of the situation
was John Devoy,who wrote to Dillon in August 1891 from America :

Supposing all you say about Parnell's anger against 'poor
Mr. Gladstone' and the Liberal Party be correct have you
any conception to which that anger is shared by Irish
Hationalists in America, as it clearly is by large masses
of the people of Ireland ? Must Parnell alone be perfect
while his opponents are free to indulge in all the
weaknesses that flesh is heir to ? What guarantee have
you that any English party will give Ireland what she
wants, except the guarantee afforded by a united people
and an independent party ? How can you ask the Irish in
America to have any confidence in the majority after the
exhibition they made of their subservience to English
politicians and the Irish bishops. Gladstone's letter -
or the publication of it - created an entirely new
situation. It is simply childish and absurd to talk of
your party as independent in face of its yielding to the
threat conveyed in that letter'

Parnell was criticizing not for the first time excessive
reliance on a particular English party, and in his final months
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expressed support for Tory land and congested district bilTs.
He was always dismissive of Davitt's notion that English working
class democracy would take up the cause of Ireland.

The fall of Parnell foreshadowed the ultimate failure of
constitutionalism. The advanced nationalists received a whole new
lease of life. He described himself as 'not a mere parliamentarian’.
He declared, as one who had always enjoyed the company of working
men and been interested in industry and mining, that 'the future
is undoubtedly with the working classes', and expressed interest
and tacit approval for many of the demands of the growing Labour
movepent, universal suffrage, the eight hour day, taxes on derelict
land, state promotion of industry, and the provision of labourers’
cottages.

In his final speech in Listowel in September 1891, he stated:

'If 1 were dead and gone tomorrow the men who are fighting
against English influence in Irish public life would

fight on still. They would still be independent
nationalists. And they would still protest that it was
not by taking orders from English Ministers that Ireland's
future could be served, protected and secured'.

Back in 1885 he had expressed no surprise that young men were
joining the extreme movement, despite the apparent successes of the
parliamentary party. Parnell replied: ‘Why should they not ? All
our plans and projects may fail ...... and God only knows but the
quarrel may have to be settled that way yet'. He believed self-
government was inevitable, and that an important step had been taken.

The fall of Parnell acted as a powerful catalyst for the whole
cultural revival, which was the basis of 20th century independence.
But Katherine Tynan was the only member of the literary movement whom
he actually met, and whose poetry was read to him by Katherine 0'Shea.
The ultimate failure of Home Rule undoubtedly reflected even on its
initiator. Pearse said of him: ‘Parnell was less a political thinker
than an embodied flame that seared, a sword that stabbed. He did the
thing that lay nearest his heart ...His instinct was a separatist
instinct'. Parnell was not a consistent moderate nor unequivocally
a constitutional nationalist. Neither was he a straightforward
separatist-

But any time that vigour is felt to be missing from the conduct
of our affairs, the career of Parnell will always provide inspiration
and encouragement. I leave the last words with Yeats

For Parnell was a proud man

No prouder to be found,

And a proud man's a lovely man
So pass the bottle round.
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Hugh Ryan.

THE INSCRIPTIONS:(Contd.)

ENGLISH FAMILY: (No. 124)
(This is a broken-down table-type tomb covered in lichen. The stone cannot
be deciphered, but-it is the burial place of the English family of Monolargie).

FAHEY: JOHANNA.
See Fahey, Michael (No.86).

FAHEY: MICHAEL (No.86).

Erected by /7 Mary Fahey / in memory of her husband / Michael 19th Sep 1900
aged 80 / also his father Patrick / died March 18th 1870 / and his mother
Johanna / Died May 4th 1870/.

FAHEY: PATRICK.
See Fahey, Michael (No. 86).

FITZGERALD: JAS (No.78)

Sacred/ to the Memory / of Jas Fitzgerald of Ballyslough / who died 7th October
1842 aged 96 years / his wife Margt Fitzgerald alias 0'Donnell / who died 13th
day of Feb 1835 aged 79 years / their grandson James Power of Carrick-on-Suir /
his brothers and sisters who died young / also John and Robert Fitzgerald who
died in / North America /

FITZGERALD: JOHN.
See Fitzgerald, Jas (No.78).

FITZGERALD: MARGT ALIAS O'DONNELL.
See Fitzgerald, Jas (No./8).

FITZGERALD: ROBERT.
See Fitzgerald , Jas (No.78).

FITZPATRICK: CATHERINE.
See Fitzpatrick, MichT (No.171).

FITZPATRICK: MICHL (No.171).
Erected by Judy Fitzpatrick in / memory of her husband Michl / Fitzpatrick of
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Carrick-on-Suir / who departed this life ..... 1813 aged 37 yrs / also his
father Thomas Fitzpatrick / of Milerstown who departed this 1ife July / the
2nd 1800 aged 50 yrs also his mother / Catherine Fitzpatrick who depd this
1ife / the 5..... aged 54/

FITZPATRICK: THOMAS.
See Fitzpatrick, Michl (No.171).

FLINN: JAMES.
See F1inn, John (No.143).

FLINN: JOHN (No.143).
trected by Ma..... w F1inn / in memory of his father John Flinn / James Flinn
his brother / & Thos Flinn who died / Jan 15th 1788 aged 37 yrs /

FLINN: THOS.
See F1inn, John (No.143).

FLYNN FAMILY: (No.242).
(This is an iron cross with the initials N.F. on it and is the burial place
of the Flyrrs of Mothel.)

FLYNN: ELLEN ALIAS WALSH (No.169).

trected / by ATice Galavan / of Carrickbeg / in memory of her mother / Ellen
Flynn ( alies .."sh / who died 1838 aged 55 yrs / and her father / John Flynn/
who died 1831 / aged 65 yrs /

FLYNN: JOHN. . -
See Flynn, Ellen alias Walsh (No.169).

FOGARTY: ELLEN NEE SHANAHAN.
See Shanahan, James (No.l144),

FOLEY: DAVID (No.125).

Erected by John Foley of Knockaderry / in memory of his father mother / and
their ancestors who lieth here / Here lieth the body of David Foley / who
departed Jan 24th 1787 aged 87 years / Also his wife Elenor Foley alias ..... /
who departed March 20th 1790 aged 83 yrs / also the body of Derby Foley brother/
of the above David who departed April / 1751 aged 35 years also the bodies

of / Mathew and Edmd Foley sons of / above Derby Foley who died both ummarried/

FOLEY: DERBY.
See FoTey, David (No.125).

FOLEY :EDMD.
See Foley, David (No.125).

FOLEY: ELENOR.
See Foley, David (No.125).

FOLEY: MATHEW.
See Foley, David (No.125).

FORAN: JOHN (No.222).
Erected by / Denis & James Foran 0ldgrange / in Memory of their brother John /
who died 29th Decr 1867 / aged 42 years /.

FORAN: MARGARET.
See Foran, Nicholas (No.223).
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FORAN: NICHOLAS (No.223).

Erected by Mrs. Mary Foran / of 0ldgrange in memory of her / husband Nicholas
Foran who died / July 9th 1839 aged 65 yrs also her / daughter Margaret Foran
who died / February ..... aged 40 years /

White, Carrick-on-Suir.

GALLAVAN: JOHN.
See Galvan, James (No.237).

GALLIVAN: ELENOR (No.90).
Here Tieth the body of / Elenor Gallivan who depa/rtede this life May 5th
1787 / aged 58 years /.

GALVAN: HONORA.
See Galvan, Thos (No.236).

GALVAN: JAMES (No.237).

Erected in memory of James Galvan of / Ballyslough who departed this life on the/
1st of February 1828 aged 76 years / also his son John Gallavan died April 7th
1843 aged 38 years /.

GALVAN: THOS. (No.236).

Sacred to the memory of Thos Galvan / late of Carrick-on-Suir he was deservedly/
‘regretted by his numerous friends for his / many amiable and excellent qualities
he depd / this life 20th July A.D. 1830 aged 46 years / also Honora his daughter
died 1st April 1831 aged 2 years /.

GEARY: MARY ALIAS QUINLAN (No.215).

Here Tieth the body of / Mary Geary alias Quinlan / who died 3rd of May 180-
aged / 47 years also her son Mortongh / Geary who died May 4th 1788 / aged
12 years /.

GEARY: MICHAEL.
See Geary, Murtha (No. 218).

GEARY: MORTONGH.
See Geary, Mary alias Quinlan (No.215).

GEARY: MURTHA (No.218).

Here Tieth the body of Mur/tha Geary of Ballythomas / who depd this Life Feb
19th 1811 / aged 21 yrs also his brother who / died young / Inscribed by /

Mary Geary alias Walsh / in memory of her husband / Michael Geary of Ballythomas/
Died 24th July 1884 aged 16 years /

GUYRY: PATRICK (No.58).
Here Ties the body of Patrick / Guyry who died 20th Mar/1821 aged 70 yrs /

HAHESSY: CATHERINE
See Connolly, Patrick (No.81).

HALLORAN: ELENOR ALIAS TORPY (No.200).
Here Ties the body of / ETenor Halloran alias /Torpy County of Tipry / near
Grove who depd this / life Nov..... 1822 aged 48/ May her soul rest in peace/Amen/
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HARNEY: CATHERINE (No.203).
Here Ties the body of / Catherine Harney of / Ballingrawn who depd/ Nov Bth
1819 aged 22 yrs / Erected by her father / Philip Harney/.

HARNEY : MARGARET NEE WHELAN (No.37).
Erected by / Wrs. Bridget Kelly / of Clonmel / in memory of her mother /
Margaret Harney / nee Whelan / who died 26th Feb 1888 / aged 70 years/.

HARNEY: MARTIN (No.113).
Martin Harney / died in the year / 1763 aged 5 years /.

HARNEY: PATRICK.
See Harney, Thomas (No.235).

HARNEY: THOMAS (No.57).

trected by John Harney/Clashnasmuth in Memory /6f his father Thomas / Harney
who died the / 14 Feb 1875 aged 70 years /

(This monument is a slate).

HARNEY: THOMAS (No.235).

trected by Margaret Harney / of Drumdeel in memory of her / beloved husband
Thomas Harney / who died Feb 13th 1837 aged 38 years / also her son who died
young / also her father in law Patrick / who died March 13th 1834 / aged 55 years/

HARTERY: JOHN (No.174).

trected by Nicholas Hartery pernambuco / Brazils Mercht in memory of his father
John / Hartery of Carrick-on-Suir who died 6th March / 1816 agd 45 years also
his mother Margt Hartery / alias Collins who died 27th Dec 1844 aged 82 yrs /
his brother Laurence Hartery who died.in / Trinidad West Indies on the 8th Sep
1840 agd 48 / years also Laurence and Maurice Hartery who are / here interred/.

HARTERY: LAURENCE.
See Hartery, John (No.174).

HARTERY : LAURENCE.
See Hartery, John (No. 174).

HARTERY: MARGT ALIAS COLLINS.
See Hartery, John {No.178).

HARTERY: MAURICE.
See Hartery, John (No.174).

HASSETT: MRS.
See Hassett, Denis (No.91).

HASSETT: DENIS (No.91).

trected to the memory of / Denis Hassett of Kilclooney / who died Sep 20th
1826 / aged 51 years / also his son Thomas / who died June 10th 1821 / aged
13 years / also his wife / Mrs. Hassett / who died October 8/ 1871 / aged 85
years /.

HASSETT : THOMAS .
See Hassett, Denis (No.91).

HAYES: JOHN
See Hayes, Thomas (No.10).

HAYES: THOMAS (No.10).
Erected by John Hayes of / Carrickbeg in memory of / his beloved father Thomas
Hayes / of Killinasbig who depd this/1ife June 28th 1836 aged 89 years / The
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above named John Hayes died / June 8th 1863 aged 60 years / Requiscat in
Pace Amen / .

HEARN:ANTHONY (No.62).

Erected by / Mary Walsh Feddins / in Memory of her father / Anthony Hearn / her
mother / Catherine Hearn / her Brother / Bevery Hearn / and her Sister /
Catherine Hearn/.

HEARN: BEVERY.
See Hearn, Anthony (No.62).

HEARN: CATHERINE
See Hearn, Anthony (No.62).

HEARN: CATHERINE
See Hearn, Anthony (No.62).

HEARN: CATHERINE.
See Hearn, Michael (No.208).

HEARN: DAVID (No.164).

Here Ties the body of David / Hearn who departed this life / the 28th of April
1758 aged 86 yrs / and of his wife who died 19th / of May 1739 aged 64 yrs by
/ Name Margaret / .

HEARN: MARGARET.
See Hearn, David (No.164).

HEARN: MARGARET.
See Hearn, WiTlm (No.209).

HEARN: MARY (No.12).

Erected by Mr. John Hearn of / Carrickbeg Merchant to the memory / of his
beloved wife Mary Hearn / who depd this life June 27th 1842 / aged 47 years /
Requiescat in Pace Amen /.

HEARN: MARY.
See Hearn, Michael (No.208).

HEARN: MICHAEL (No.208).

Erected by / Patrick Hearn of Jonestown / in loving memory of his father /
Michael Died 1st May 1867 aged 66 yrs / also his mother Mary / Died 29th May
1867 aged 60 yrs / also his wife Catherine Hearn / Died 23rd March 1915
aged 76 /.

HEARN: THOMAS (No.88).
Here Ties the body of / Thomas Hearn of Cule/nahorna who departed / this life

December the 3rd / 1773 aged 53 years /.

HEARN: WILLM-(No.209).

Here Tieth the body of / Willm Hearn who depd / this 1ife Ocber the 14th 1767/
aged 84 years also his /Grand daughter Margaret / Hearn who depd this life /
May the 9th 1784 aged 13 yrs /.

HEANY: DENIS.
See Heany, Joseph (No.168).

HEANY: JOSEPH.
Here Tieth the body/of Joseph Heany of Strad/bally who departed / this life April
the 12th 1792 / aged 43 years also / Denis Heany father to / the above departed

this / 1ife October 16th 1794 / aaed 97 vears / .
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HEARNY: HONORA (No.128).
Here Ties the body of / Honora Hearny wife of /Thomas Brien who departed /
this 1ife 20th April /1755 aged 36 years /.

HENEBERY: DAVID (No.154).

D.0.M. / Here Tieth the body of /David Henebery of Clonda/nel who depd this
1ife July / 27th 1807 aged 26 years / also Mary Henebrey who / depd this life
October 25th 1803 / aged 25 years / Thomas Henebery died / Novber 24th 1802
aged 17 yrs / also Walter & Mary Henebry / aged 80 & 75 years / and Michael
Henebry / died 18th May 1896 aged 74 yrs / also David Henebry / died Seper
1914 aged 89 yrs / Requiescat in Pace Amen/.

HENEBRY: DAVID.
See Henebery, David (No.154).

HENEBERY: DAVID.
See Henebery Timothy (No.155).

HENEBREY: MARY.
See Henebery, Dav<: (No.154).

HENEBERY: MARY.
See Henebery, David (No.154).

HENEBERY: MARY.
See Henebery, Timothy (No.155).

HENEBRY: MICHAEL.
See Henebery, David (No.154).

HENEBERY: THOMAS
See Henebery, David (No.154).

HENEBERY: TIMOTHY (No.155).

In memory of / Timothy Henebery / of Glen / died 6th Jan 1875 / aged 50 years/
and his Son David / Died 8th July 1889 / aged 17 years / and his wife Mary
Henebry / died 1st March 1913 aged 81 /.

Disney, Clonmel.

HENEBERY: WALTER.
See Henebery, David (No.154).

HICKEY: DAVID.

Erected by William Hickey / in memory of his father / David Hickey who depd
Jan / the 6th 1773 aged 75 yrs also his/ brother David Hickey depd / Sep 29th
1804 aged 50 yrs /.

HICKEY: DAVID
See Hickey, David (No.201).

HOGAN: EDMD (No.228).

Erected by John Hogan / in memory of his son / Edmd Hogan who died Sept / 28th
1829 aged 28 years / Thos Dunford died May 1st / 1819 aged 70 years / Matthew
Dunford Died / May 1st 1811 aged 28 years /.

HOGAN: EDMOND.
See Hogan, Nicholas (No.229).

HOGAN: EDMOND.
See Hogan, Nicholas (No.229).
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HOGAN: ELLEN
See Hogan,Nicholas (No.229).

HOGAN: JOHN
See Hogan, Nicholas (No.229).

HOGAN: MICHAEL (No.166).

This 1s the bury pTace of / the family of the Hogans and / the last of the
family intered / was Michael Hogan of Jones/town who depd this life / February
the 21st 1770 in the / 59 year of his age/.

HOGAN: NICHOLAS (No.229).

Erected / in memory of / Nicholas Hogan/ Glenpatrick / who died 15th April 1902/
aged 87 yrs / Edmond Hogan Currakiely / Died 4th Nov 1934 aged 88 years / His
Son Edmond / Died 5th Dec 1916 aged 49 yrs / His daughter Ellen / Died 11th Dec
1933 aged 63 yrs / His son John / Died 20th May 1939 aged 67 yrs / R.1.P. / .

HOULTHAN FAMILY: (No.20).
(Tron cross with lance staff and sacred heart. The name Houlihan Tinhallow is

on the end part of the surround).

HOULTHAN: MARY.
See Geofery (No.105).

HOULIHAN: MICHAEL (No.53).
Erected by ATTias Walsh in memory / of her husband Michl Houlihan who / ....
this 1ife April 20th 1807 in 50th year / May his soul rest in Peace Amen/.

HUNT: CATHERINE ALIAS CARBRY (No.134).

This stone erected by Nichs Hunt of / Whitfield in memory of his wife /
Catherine Hunt alias Carbry who depd / this 1ife January 27th 1799 / aged 53
yrs also his father in law Martin / Carbry & his wife Alice Carbry alias
Sheehan formerly of Whitestown/.

JOYE: JAMES
See Ready, Richard (No.137).

JOYE: MRS. PATRICK ALIAS GRAY.
See Ready, Richard (No.137).

KAIN: JAMES (No.117).
Here Tieth the body of /James Kain of Clonea/ who departed this 1life / February
the 5th 1774 / aged 26 years /.

KAVANAGH FAMILY: (No.18).
This 1s a broken wooden cross with the initials M.K. in iron. This has been the
urial place of the Kavanagh family of Ballynevin).

KEANE: MARTIN (No.170).

Erected by / Mrs. Alice Keane / of Feddins in memory of her / husband Martin
Keane / who died 4th July 1873 / aged 68 years also her / Father & Mother /
William & Bridget Barton / and her brother and sister / Thomas and Ellen Barton/.

KEARNEY FAMILY: (No.8).
(An iron cross with no inscription, but this has been the burial place of the
Kearney family, Carrick-on-Suir).

KEATING: MARY (No.251).
Erected by / John Keating of Kilclooney / in memory of his wife / Mary Keating /
who died 8th June 1862 / aged 64 yrs /.
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KEEFE: PHILIP (No.84).
Here Ties the body of / Philip Keefe Hatter who / depd this life Nov the / 18
1789 aged 45 yrs /.

KEEFFE: MARY ALIAS DEED.
See Deed, James (No.231).

KENEDY: ANSTICE.
See Cain, Patrick (No.156).

KENNA: EDMOND (No.106).

tdmond Kenna departed this life / January the 22nd 1773 aged 60 years / also
Thomas Kenna his son depd / Sep 26th 1783 aged 20 years & / his son Nicholas
Kenna Depd / June ye 20th 1792 aged 39 years /.

KENNA: NICHOLAS.
See Kenna, tdmond (No.106).

KENNA: THOMAS.
See Kenna, Edmond (No.106).

KENNEDY: MICHAEL (No.226).
This stone was erected for / Michl Kennedy of Whitestown / by his wife Ellen
Kennedy / alias Walsh who departed this life / June 27th 1774 aged 55 yrs /.

KIEFE: FRANCIS.
See Kiefe, Timothy (No.180).

KIEFE: JOHN. . )
See Kiefe, Timothy, (No.180).

KIEFE: TIMOTHY (No.180).

This stone erected by Con/Kiefe in memory of his / father Timothy Kiefe who /
departed this 1ife May the / 18 1773 aged 65 years / also his grandsone John
Kiefe/ who departed this life May the 22 1773 aged 8 years / also his daughter
Francis Kiefe / who departed this 1ife / February 1st 1798 aged 26/.

LANDERGEN: CHARLES (No.129).
Here Tieth the body / of Charles Landergen / who departed this/ life the 11
Novber 1758 / aged 79 years /.

LARKIN: WILLIAM (No.198).

This is the burying place/ of the family of the Larkins/ & the last of the fam11y
interred/was William Larkin son of / Edmond Larkin of Curruh/nagarragh who depd
this/1ife April the 13th 1772 in / 34 year of his age / May he rest in Peace/.

LEONARD: CATHERINE .
See Leonard, Mary otherwise McCann (No.123).

LEONARD: MARY OTHERWISE McCANN (No.123).

Erected by Michael Leonard/Cooper Carrick-on-Suir as a last/ing memorial of his
affectionate/Mother Mary Leonard otherwise/McCann who depd January the/4th 1824
aged 52 years also his / sister Catherine Leonard who / depd April the 16th 1807
aged 14 yrs/ Requiescat in Pace Amen/.




. 53.
Gravestone Inscriptions at Mothel, Co. Waterford.

LOWREY: JOHN (No.41).
Here Tieth the body of / John Lowrey who departed / this life the 5th day of
February 1806 / aged 23 years /.

LYNCH: ELENORA ALIAS POKWER.
See Lynch, Thomas {No.191).

LYNCH: THOMAS (No.191).

Here Tieth the body of Tho/mas Lynch son of Daniel/Lynch of 01d Grange who
departed this life ye 14th of / March 1751 aged 25 years / also his mother
Elenora Lyn/ch alias Power wife to the above / Daniel Lynch she departed this /
life ....... aged ......... /




LECTURE BEASON

Lectureé will be held in Garter Lane Arts Centre, 0'Connell
Street, Waterford, commencing at 8 p.m.

1988
Nov. 18th t Viking Age Structures at Olaf Street -
Ms. Claire Walshe.

Dec. 4th s Annual Luncheon. (Separate notice will be
sent to Members).

1989

Jan. 1l3th ¢ Town and Country Houses in South-East
Ireland - Mr. Ian Lumley (member).

Feb. 10th ¢ Quakers in Industry and Engineering in
Ireland in the 19th Century -
Mr. Robert Jacob.

Mar. 10th ¢t Aspects of Norman Adventure -~ Mr. Nicky

Furlong.

April 1lhth $ Irish Environment in Archaeology -
Dr. John Feehan.

Enquiries regarding DECIES to ¢ Mr. Fergus Dillon,
'Trespan',
The Folly,
waterford.

Membership of the 014 Waterford Society is open to all.
Subscription for 1988 is £7.00 and may be sent to :

Mrs. R. Lumley,
28, Dalsy Terrace,
Waterford.

The Society 1s not responsible for damage or injury suffered or

sustained on outings.
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